
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Boyd

AGENDA November 16, 2016

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Boyd

Minutes Recessed Meeting - October 26, 2016

Minutes Agenda Session - October 26, 2016

Minutes Regular Meeting - November 2, 2016

Report Report of Investment Activity for Quarter Ended September 30, 2016

Report Quarterly Fee Office Reports

Report Hixson Utility District Order of Appointment - Jeff Davis

Report Savannah Valley Utility District  Order of Appointment - Robertson Healy

Report Order of Designation Planning Commission - Todd Leamon November 14, 2016.

Res. No. 1116-14 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions, the bonds and oaths
of notaries previously elected, the oath of Chief Judicial Commissioner, and oaths of Judicial
Commissioners.

Res. No. 1116-15 A Resolution to confirm the appointment by the County Mayor of Jenneth Randall as County
Auditor.

Res. No. 1116-16 A Resolution to confirm the appointment of seven members to the Chattanooga-Hamilton
County Regional Health Council for terms as designated herein-below.

Res. No. 1116-17 A Resolution to appoint a regular member to the Sheriff's Civil Service Advisory Board to fill the
unexpired term of William Pippin.

Res. No. 1116-18 A Resolution authorizing the expenditure of up to one hundred fifty thousand dollars
($150,000.00) from bond funds for resurfacing of the Red Bank High School track.

Res. No. 1116-19 A Resolution making an appropriation to Urban Impact Incorporated in the amount of five
thousand dollars ($5,000.00) from General Fund travel discretionary monies, as allotted to
District Four.

Res. No. 1116-20 A Resolution correcting an error as to the expiration of the term in the designation of  Randy
Russell as Chief Judicial Commissioner to reflect the correct ending date as April 30, 2017.

Res. No. 1116-21 A Resolution to accept the proposal of EAP Care, Inc. to provide Employee Assistance Program
(EAP) Services to Hamilton County employees for $1.55 per employee per month and to
authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1116-22 A Resolution granting a Special Permit for a Short Term Vacation Rental for property located at
815 South Scenic Highway.

Res. No. 1116-23 A Resolution granting a Special Permit for a Short Term Vacation Rental for property located at
7029 Maplewood Lane.

Res. No. 1116-24 A Resolution granting a Special Permit for a Short Term Vacation Rental for property located at
3073 Baggett Trail.

Res. No. 1116-25 A Resolution granting a Special Permit for a Short Term Vacation Rental on property located at
7808 Hixson Pike.

Res. No. 1116-26 A Resolution granting a Special Permit for a Short Term Vacation Rental for property located at
16112 Lakewood Drive.

Res. No. 1116-27A A Resolution granting a Special Exceptions Permit to Lift & Amend Conditions of Resolution
1114-25C of Previous Case No. 2014-119 from properties located at 1650 & 1724
Ooltewah-Ringgold Road & 9716 East Brainerd Road.



Res. No. 1116-27B A Resolution granting a Special Exceptions Permit to Lift & Amend Conditions of Resolution
1114-25C of Previous Case No. 2014-119 from properties located at 1650 & 1724
Ooltewah-Ringgold Road & 9716 East Brainerd Road.

Res. No. 1116-28A A Resolution granting a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development
for property located at 1650 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.

Res. No. 1116-28B A Resolution granting a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development
for property located at 1650 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.

Res. No. 1116-29 A Resolution adopting an updated Right-Of-Way Closure and Abandonment Policy for Hamilton
County.

Res. No. 1116-30 A Resolution approving the purchase of IAPro software and support services from CI
Technologies, Inc. for the Sheriff’s Department amounting to $34,000.00 and authorizing the
County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1116-31 A Resolution approving the purchase of NS400 series locks from Western Detention Products
Inc., for Hamilton County Juvenile Court amounting to $22,915.00, and authorizing the County
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1116-32 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to sign a contract with the term October 1, 2015
through June 30, 2017, with the State of Tennessee, Department of Military, Tennessee
Emergency Management Agency (TEMA) to reimburse on a 50% (fifty percent) basis, the
Hamilton County Emergency Service’s cost of operating and maintaining its Emergency
Management program.

Res. No. 1116-33 A Resolution to waive the Purchasing Rules and authorize the County Mayor to transfer a
surplus vehicle to the Forgotten Child Fund.

Res. No. 1116-34 A Resolution amendment to the Public Health Emergency Preparedness grant for the provision
of Emergency Preparedness activities to increase it from $528,100.00 to $541,500.00 for the 12
month time period beginning July 1, 2016 - June 30, 2017 and to amend the Homeland Security
budget for FY 2017 by adding $13,400.00 to the revenue and expenditure budget.

Res. No. 1116-35 A Resolution approving the proposal from Quatred, LLC, for the purchase of Radio-Frequency
Identification (RFID) technology compatible with ONESolution products for the tracking of
Hamilton County fixed assets for the Finance Department amounting to $36,988.68, and
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1116-36 A Resolution accepting the bid of Carriage Nissan for model year (2017) contract unit pricing for
mid-size fleet staff sedans for Hamilton County and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any
contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1116-37 A Resolution accepting the bid of Prater Ford, Inc., for mid-size and small utility vehicles for
Hamilton County and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 

1 
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  October 26, 2016 

 

 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 26th day of October, 2016, a Recessed 

Meeting of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

 Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham,  

Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. Total present 

– 8.  Total absent -0. 

 

 Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and Interim County Auditor 

Jenneth Randall.  

 

 Chairman Bankston introduced Elder Forrest Vandergriff, Chattanooga Church of 

God Seventh Day, who gave the invocation. Chairman Bankston led in the pledge to the 

flag.  



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 

2 
 

 Mayor Coppinger reported that Mr. Vandergriff retired from the Chattanooga 

Police Department after 28 years of service. He thanked Mr. Vandergriff for his service 

and for his invocation at today’s meeting.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1016-39 A RESOLUTION DESIGNATING _________________ 

AS CHIEF JUDICIAL COMMISSIONER FOR A TERM BEGINNING NOVEMBER 1, 

2016, AND ENDING ___________________; AND ESTABLISHING THE 

COMPENSATION TO BE RECEIVED.  

 

 Chairman Bankston opened the floor for nominations for Chief Judicial 

Commissioner.  

 

 Commissioner Graham nominated Randy Russell. There were no other 

nominations.  

 

 County Clerk Knowles called the roll, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Randy Russell”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Randy Russell”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Randy Russell”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Randy Russell”, Commissioner Graham, “Randy Russell”, 

Commissioner Mackey, “Randy Russell”, Commissioner Smedley, “Randy Russell”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Randy Russell”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Randy 

Russell” votes – 8.  



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 

3 
 

 Clerk Knowles asked for clarification regarding the ending term date regarding 

the appointment of the Chief Judicial Commissioner. Attorney Taylor stated that the 

term was for six months ending March 31, 2017.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Attorney Taylor stated that a 

motion to adopt Resolution No. 1016-39 was not necessary since Mr. Russell was the 

sole nominee and was elected by a roll call vote.  There was no objection. 

 

 Being no further business Chairman Bankston declared the recessed meeting 

adjourned. 

 

      

     Respectfully submitted: 

 
      
     _______________________________ 
     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

 

Approved: 

 

 
______ 
Date  Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 
 

 1 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  October 26, 2016 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 26th day of October, 2016, an Agenda 

Preparation Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and 

held at the Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, 

when the following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston.  Total 

present - 8.  Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and Interim County Auditor 

Jenneth Randall. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 
 

 2 

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered 

as follows: 

• The Trustee’s Monthly and Excess Fee Reports for September 2016 would be 
submitted for the record. 

• The Juvenile Court Clerk’s Reports for July and August 2016 would be submitted 
for the record. 

• Resolution No. 1116-1 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc.  
This required no committee assignment. 

• Resolution No. 1116-4 was not used.  
• Resolution Nos. 1116-5 through 1116-13 were assigned to the Finance 

Committee, chaired by Commissioner Boyd. 
• Resolution Nos. 1116-2 and 1116-3 were heard by a Committee of the Whole. 

 
 
 Chairman Bankston stated that Resolution Nos. 1116-2 and 1116-3 would now 

be heard by a Committee of the Whole.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1116-2 

 

Todd Leamon, Administrator of Public Works and County Engineer, spoke 

regarding this item, which increases the contract with Thomas Brothers Construction 

Company, Inc. in an amount not to exceed $124,618.54 for the intersection 

improvements at East Brainerd Road and Ooltewah Ringgold Road. He explained that 

the increase is to cover changes in the original project scope required by the Tennessee 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 
 

 3 

Department of Transportation (TDOT), and to close out the County’s contract with 

Thomas Brothers Construction Company.  

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Mr. Leamon confirmed that all 

costs will be reimbursed by TDOT per Agreement No. 080076, which the County 

approved on June 18, 2009 (Resolution No. 608-31).  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 1116-3 

 

This Resolution makes certain findings relating to the ECG Chestnut, L.P. 

project, delegates certain authority to the Health, Education and Housing Facility Board 

of the City of Chattanooga, Tennessee, and authorizes the County Mayor to enter into 

and execute an agreement for payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes (PILOT). Attorney 

Taylor introduced Joe Conner and Louann Smith, Attorneys with Baker Donelson, who 

represent the Elmington Capital Group in regards to their application for the PILOT 

agreement. He stated that John Shepard, VP of Multifamily Acquisitions, prepared a 

brief presentation to detail the facts of the project for Commissioners. It was noted that 

Hunter Nelson, Partner, and Steven Simmons, SVP, were also present on behalf of the 

Elmington Capital Group. A copy of the presentation was filed with the Clerk’s office. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 
 

 4 

Mr. Shepard explained that Elmington Capital is headquartered in Nashville and 

owns approximately $500 million in commercial and multifamily assets. The group has 

developed approximately 1,000 apartment complexes since 2013, including Ridgemont 

and River City North in Chattanooga. It was noted that a majority of the complexes have 

been affordable and workforce housing.  

 

Mr. Shepard stated that the proposed development, known as Chestnut Flats, 

will be located at 2108 Chestnut Street in Downtown Chattanooga, which is currently a 

vacant lot. The complex will contain approximately 174 units, comprised of one and two 

bedroom apartments. Mr. Shepard reported that 100% of the units will be restricted to 

residents that make up to or below 60% of the average median income (AMI) with rent 

averaging between $600 – $750. Mr. Shepard pointed out the disproportion between 

the number of affordable housing units needed per year, and the number provided. He 

also highlighted the fiscal and economic impacts the $20+ million investment will have, 

including 100+ jobs, permit fees, increased tax value of surrounding properties, and 

approximately $1 million for schools and public services.  

 

Mr. Shepard spoke about the verification and accountability process for potential 

tenants. He stated that the federal tax credits issued by the Tennessee Housing 

Development Agency to develop the property come with strict compliance standards 

including yearly audits. Potential tenants must provide employer attestations, paystubs, 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 
 

 5 

social security award letters, tax returns, and bank statements for income verification. 

He added that Elmington has six full-time compliance employees. Mr. Shepard reported 

that the PILOT is for a ten-year term, as well as a two-year construction period and a 

five-year gradual increase to market property taxes. In-lieu payments on real property 

equal to 2016 taxes will be paid throughout the term of the PILOT, as well as 100% of 

the school portion of property taxes. It was noted that the school portion will be based 

on the improved property assessment. 

 

In response to Commissioner Mackey’s questions, Mr. Shepard stated that the 

apartments will be built to Class A standards, which incorporate contemporary design 

and construction standards. He added that the project would not be possible without the 

proposed PILOT terms. Mr. Shepard stated that the City of Chattanooga approved the 

project.  

 

In response to Commissioner Mackey’s question, Mr. Shepard reported that a 

two-bedroom apartment in the complex would be approximately 1000 square feet, 

which is market standard. He echoed his earlier statement that 100% of the units will be 

restricted to residents making up to or below 60% of AMI.   

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mayor Coppinger stated that his 

office has spent a lot of time with the Elmington Capital Group, and noted that they are 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 
 

 6 

a reputable organization. He explained that Hamilton County is in need of affordable 

housing, and his staff agrees that these projects are not possible without a PILOT 

agreement. He reminded the Commission that County schools will receive 

approximately $1 million from this project. Mayor Coppinger voiced his support for 

affordable housing.  

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mr. Shepard reported that the 

group is relying on the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) program to develop the 

property, which is a very successful public-private partnership in which the federal 

government issues tax credits that are allocated by the states for housing development 

programs that meet certain standards. It was noted that tax-exempt bonds will be used 

to finance the debt. Commissioner Boyd questioned the need for a PILOT in addition to 

the federal tax credits. Mr. Shepard stated that the design of the LIHTC program does 

not allow it to work on its own without the additional incentive of a PILOT or similar local 

financing commitment. He added that the process does allow local government to have 

more control over the project.  

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mr. Shepard confirmed that the 

development will have on-site parking. Commissioner Boyd spoke about past PILOT 

agreements the County has entered into and stated that in comparison this project 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 
 

 7 

appears to meet all criteria for affordable housing. He noted his concern about the 

length of the PILOT, but stated that he would be supporting this item next week.  

 

In response to Commissioner Fairbanks questions, Mr. Shepard confirmed that 

in-lieu payments on real property equal to 2016 taxes will be paid throughout the term of 

the PILOT. The abatement is for the increased portion of the property taxes that does 

not go to County schools. Mr. Shepard added that some of the types of jobs created will 

be construction related and retail positions. He also stated that if a tenant qualifies for 

housing based on their current income, and while living in the unit their income rises 

above the 60% of AVI mark, the tenant will not be required to move out.  

 

Mayor Coppinger responded to Commissioner Fairbanks comments. He 

emphasized the need for affordable housing in Hamilton County. He stated that his 

office is confident that this project would not be possible without a PILOT agreement.  

 

In response to Commissioner Field’s question, Attorney Louann Smith with Baker 

Donelson stated that the primary purpose of the Health, Education, and Housing Facility 

Board of the City of Chattanooga is to provide decent housing of the citizens of the 

State of Tennessee.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 
 

 8 

Commissioner Mackey requested that Helen Burns Sharp be permitted to 

address the Commission. Mrs. Sharp who resides at 129 Walnut Street voiced approval 

of this particular PILOT agreement. She stated the PILOT meets the demand for 

affordable housing in the Downtown Chattanooga area, and stated that the market is 

not going to meet that demand on its own. She emphasized the importance of having a 

mixed income base in the area. She added that a PILOT program is necessary for Low 

Income Housing Tax Credits work.  

 

Commissioner Mackey thanked Ms. Sharp for her comments. He stated that 

government with citizen involvement is the best type of government.  He also 

acknowledged Franklin McCallie who was present for the meeting.   

 

In response to Commissioner Smedley’s question, Mr. Nelson reported that the 

turnover rate on units is around 15-20%. He added that seniors living on fixed incomes 

make up a large demographic of the tenants.  

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Mr. Shepard stated that rent 

includes water and sewer, but not electricity. He added that a portion of the 

development will be four floors, which is consistent with the new form based zoning 

code.   

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 
 

 9 

Commissioner Graham stated that he will not be supporting this item next week. 

He added that River City established a goal of approximately 2,100 affordable housing 

units in Downtown Chattanooga, and that the goal has been met. He explained that the 

17-year terms of the agreement could cause the County to miss an opportunity for a 

development that does not need a PILOT agreement.  

 

Commissioner Mackey questioned why one would not support affordable housing 

in Downtown Chattanooga.   

 

Commissioner Boyd stated that building the development larger and without the 

PILOT incentive would be counteractive to meeting market demand for affordable 

housing. He reported that he looked through a local apartment guide and could not find 

a two-bedroom apartment in Downtown Chattanooga for under $1,000. He added that 

his daughter would qualify for this affordable housing development.  

 

Chairman Bankston thanked Mr. Shepard for his presentation. He asked that the 

representatives from Elmington Capital come to next week’s meeting to answer any 

additional questions Commissioners might have.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 
 

 10 

Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee, stated that the 

Finance Committee would meet in the Commission Room immediately following the 

Agenda Session. 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission.  

 

Commissioner Graham thanked all of the volunteers that came out to paint at the 

Lookout Valley Recreation Center last weekend. He reported that the project is nearly 

complete.  

 

Commissioner Boyd recognized Tennessee State Representative Richard Floyd 

and Ed Gravitt in the audience. He thanked them for attending today’s meeting.  

 

Commissioner Fairbanks reminded members of the Commission and audience 

that early voting is taking place in Hamilton County now until November 3rd. He 

encouraged everyone to get out and vote. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 
 

 11 

Mayor Coppinger announced that a meeting of the Hamilton County Retirees 

Other Post-Employment Benefits Trust Board will take place on November 9th at 1:30 

PM in the Mayor’s conference room, located in Room 106 at the Courthouse. He 

encouraged members of the public to attend.  

 

Chairman Bankston announced that former District 3 Commissioner and newly 

elected Assessor of Property Marty Haynes was in the audience at today’s meeting.  

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

OCTOBER 26, 2016 
 
 

 12 

 
Being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting adjourned 

until Wednesday, November 2nd at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      

      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
Approved: 

           

__________   
Date      Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

1 

 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  November 2, 2016 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 2nd day of November, 2016, a Regular 

Meeting of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner Mackey, 

Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. Commissioner Beck arrived 

moments after the roll call. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, Assistant County Attorney Neill Southerland, and interim County 

Auditor Jenneth Randall.  

 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

2 

 

Commissioner Boyd introduced Reverend Brandon Gilvin, First Christian Church, 

who gave the invocation. Commissioner Boyd led in the pledge to the flag.  

 

PRESENTATION – CERTIFICATE OF APPRECIATION – JANICE ROBERTSON 

 

 Commissioner Smedley introduced Janice Robertson, who founded the Snack 

Pack program at East Brainerd Church of Christ. John, her husband of 46 years, her 

pastor, and Anita Kapperman, who assists in the Snack Pack Program, joined Mrs. 

Robertson at the podium. Mrs. Robertson explained that her son, a former principal at 

Red Bank High School, brought to the attention of her church that a number of students 

at the school were hungry, and did not have enough food to eat on the weekends. She 

felt compelled to do something about the hunger problem in schools, and began the 

snack pack program in a closet at her church. She stated that the program began in 

2014 with no funding and 150 students receiving packs weekly; the program has grown 

exponentially since it began. She added that by the second week of the 2016-2017 

school year, almost 1,000 packs a week were being provided to 12 local schools. It was 

noted that some schools have students on a waiting list to receive the packs.  

 

 Mrs. Robertson stated that East Brainerd Church of Christ gave the program a 

$12,000 annual budget in its second year of operation. Currently, the cost to provide 

1,000 packs per week is $72,000 a year. She explained that each pack costs $2.00 and 

contains 10 items, a majority of which comes from the Chattanooga Area Food Bank. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

3 

 

The packs are delivered to schools on Thursday or Friday mornings for students to take 

home so they have food to eat on the weekends. She stated that the students who 

receive the packs remain anonymous, but some area principals and guidance 

counselors have shared stories about the impact the program has had on students that 

might not have food to eat on the weekends without it.   

 

 Mrs. Robertson stated that the next packing event will take place next 

Wednesday at 6:30 PM at East Brainerd Church of Christ, where the items will be 

stored until they are delivered to schools. She noted that it is a community wide effort.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Mackey’s question about the impact of hunger on 

the learning process, Mrs. Robertson stated that some area teachers and principals 

have noticed the negative impact hunger has on a child’s attention span. She reported 

that 1 out of 5 children in Hamilton County schools do not have enough to eat. She 

emphasized the need for additional funding to continue the program.  

 

 Commissioner Beck commended the work Mrs. Robertson is doing with the 

Snack Pack program. In response to Commissioner Beck’s question, Mrs. Robertson 

stated that the program expanded to Woodmore Elementary School about three weeks 

ago. It was noted that 280 packs are delivered to Woodmore weekly, which is the 

highest amount taken to any school and covers every student at the school. She added 

that parental involvement is minimal in order to maintain privacy, but a permission slip is 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

4 

 

sent home for parents to sign to approve participation in the program. She explained 

that the program does have non-profit status through East Brained Church of Christ.  

 

 Commissioner Graham thanked Mrs. Robertson for her willingness to address 

the issue of hunger in schools. He added that he worked closely with Mrs. Robertson’s 

son Justin, who was a principal at Lookout Valley and Red Bank Elementary Schools 

before he left to work in the Central Office.  

 

 Mrs. Robertson clarified that those involved in the program are volunteers and 

are not paid, and all donations go directly towards the purchase of food.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Fairbanks question, Mrs. Robertson reported that 

$80 is enough to feed one child for a year. She stated that the program will also help 

students in emergency situations, including providing coats and clothing for children in 

need. She noted that some schools have rooms set up where children can change into 

clean clothing or brush their teeth if they do not have access to those things at home. 

She added that attendance is being monitored to see if there is an increase on days the 

packs are delivered.  

 

 Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Beck, and Chairman Bankston thanked 

Mrs. Robertson for her presentation and willingness to address the issue of hunger in 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

5 

 

the schools. Commissioner Beck stated that he will match Commissioner Smedley’s 

donation to the Snack Pack program.  

 

 Commissioner Smedley asked that everyone sponsor at least one child or 

volunteer their time, and pray for these children and their families. She asked that Paul 

Grove and Richard Johnson from WTCI-TV come to the podium to speak about their 

efforts to highlight positive stories such as Mrs. Robertson’s in the community.  

 

 Mr. Grove, President and CEO, stated that the station has a program called 

“Greater Chattanooga” that is meant to tell inspiring stories occurring throughout the 

community. He noted that it is important to make sure that these positive stories are told 

to counteract some of the negativity that we see and hear every day. He stated that 

some of the stories are available on wtcitv.org.  

 

 Mr. Johnson, Vice President of Development, echoed Mr. Grove’s comments. He 

added that the station is actively looking for stories of this nature. He stated that the 

stories will be aired during the holiday season this year.  

 

 At this time, Commissioner Smedley presented Mrs. Robertson with a Certificate 

of Appreciation. A round of applause was given.  

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

6 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, that 

the minutes of the Recessed Meeting of October 12, 2016, the Agenda Preparation 

Session of October 12, 2016, and the Regular Meeting of October 19, 2016, be 

approved, treat same as read, made a matter of record and filed. The foregoing Motion 

was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

TRUSTEE REPORTS 

  

The Trustee’s Monthly and Excess Fee reports for September 2016 were 

submitted and made a matter of record. 

 

JUVENILE COURT CLERK REPORTS 

 

 The Juvenile Court Clerk’s reports for July and August 2016 were submitted and 

made a matter of record.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

7 

 

 RESOLUTION NO. 1116-1 A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 

NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, AND OATHS OF DEPUTY SHERIFFS. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Fields, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1116-1. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call 

vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting 

as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Mackey 

was not present for the roll call. Total present – 7. Total absent – 1. Total “Aye” votes – 

7.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

Chairman Bankston reported that Resolution Nos. 1116-2 and 1116-3 were 

heard by a Committee of the Whole.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-2 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO INCREASE THE CONTRACT WITH THOMAS BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION 

COMPANY, INC. FOR THE INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS AT EAST BRAINERD 

ROAD (SR-20) AND OOLTEWAH RINGGOLD ROAD (SR-321) FOR AN AMOUNT 

NOT TO EXCEED $124,618.54. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

8 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1116-2. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-3 A RESOLUTION TO MAKE CERTAIN FINDINGS 

RELATING TO THE ECG CHESTNUT, L.P. PROJECT, TO DELEGATE CERTAIN 

AUTHORITY TO THE HEALTH, EDUCATION AND HOUSING FACILITY BOARD OF 

THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY 

MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN 

LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 1116-3.  

 

In response to Commissioner Fields’ question, Assistant County Attorney 

Southerland clarified that the County’s purpose in addressing this Resolution is to 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

9 

 

determine if it will provide a public benefit to Hamilton County. She stated that the 174 

affordable housing units do meet the requirements to be considered a public benefit.  

 

Commissioner Smedley stated that while she recognizes the need for affordable 

housing in Hamilton County, she is not convinced that this is the best use of the 

property on Chestnut Street. She voiced her concern for the duration of the PILOT, 

which is seventeen years.  

 

In response to Commissioner Mackey’s question, Louann Smith, Attorney with 

Baker, Donelson, stated that the City of Chattanooga approved the PILOT as it is 

presented. She agreed with Commissioner Mackey that segregation based on income 

does exist in Chattanooga.  

 

Commissioner Beck stated that he will be supporting this item, but he is also 

concerned about the length of the PILOT. He stated that many of the jobs the project 

will create will be temporary jobs, and he emphasized the need for long term permanent 

jobs in the area.  

 

Commissioner Boyd stated that while he is also concerned about the length of 

the PILOT, he recognizes the need for affordable housing in Chattanooga. He stated 

that the Mayor’s office and the City of Chattanooga have done their due diligence, and 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

10 

 

this PILOT does meet the requirements for affordable housing. He reminded 

Commissioners that the school portion of taxes will be around $1 million.  

 

Commissioner Fields clarified that the County only has to consider if the PILOT is 

within the parameters of the statute in providing a public benefit. He stated that the 

record indicates the PILOT does provide a public benefit, and he will be supporting the 

item.  

 

The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Nay”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Nay”, and Chairman Bankston, “Nay”. Total 

present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 5.  Total “Nay” votes – 3. 

 
 
CHAIRMAN BANKSTON ANNOUNCED THAT RESOLUTION NO. 1116-4 WAS NOT 

USED.  

 

 Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution Nos. 1116-5 through 1116-13 be 

considered at this time.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

11 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-5 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A STATE OF TENNESSEE, 

GOVERNOR'S HIGHWAY SAFETY OFFICE GRANT FOR THE "REMOVE 

INTOXICATED AND IMPAIRED DRIVERS" PROJECT WITH A TERM ENDING 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2017 AND AMENDING THE SHERIFF'S OFFICE OPERATING 

BUDGET BY ADDING $76,000 TO REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-6 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A U.S. DEPARTMENT OF 

JUSTICE GRANT AND TO AMEND THE SHERIFF'S OPERATING BUDGET BY 

INCREASING REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES BY $17,450. PURSUANT TO THE 

GRANT TERMS, THE FUNDS MAY BE USED FOR CORRECTION PURPOSES 

ONLY. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-7 A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A DONATION OF CANINE 

EQUIPMENT AND ASSOCIATED SUPPLIES AND TRAINING FROM THE 

CHATTANOOGA DOG AGILITY CLUB TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY SHERIFF'S 

OFFICE VALUED AT APPROXIMATELY $4,896 FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT 

PURPOSES. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-8 A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A DONATION OF A 40MM 

SINGLE SHOT LAUNCHER WITH AN ESTIMATED RETAIL VALUE OF $975 FROM 

THE AMTECH LESS-LETHAL SYSTEMS TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY SHERIFF'S 

OFFICE. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

12 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-9 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

TO AMEND THE 2016 – 2017 BUDGET FOR THE JUSTICE FOR FAMILIES GRANT, 

FROM THE OFFICE ON VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN (OVW). THE TWO YEAR 

GRANT IN THE AMOUNT OF $250,000.00 WITH THE GRANT PERIOD OF APRIL 1, 

2015 TO MARCH 31, 2017 HAS A REMAINING BALANCE OF $64,370.00 THE 

FY2017 BUDGETED AMOUNT OF $125,000.00 FOR REVENUES AND 

EXPENDITURES SHOULD BE REDUCED TO $64,370.00 TO REFLECT THE 

CURRENT FUNDS AVAILABLE FOR FY2017. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-10 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES 

DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF 

HEALTH IN THE AMOUNT OF $492,400.00 TO PROVIDE SEXUALLY 

TRANSMITTED DISEASE AND HIV EDUCATION, PREVENTION AND CONTROL 

SERVICES IN HAMILTON COUNTY, FOR A TIME PERIOD OF JANUARY 1, 2017 

THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2017. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-11 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF 

BROZELCO INC., SHIELDS ELECTRONICS SUPPLY, INC., AND TESSCO 

INCORPORATED FOR A ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING 

NOVEMBER 3, 2016, THROUGH NOVEMBER 2, 2017, WITH THE OPTION TO 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

13 

 

RENEW FOR SIX (6) ADDITIONAL MONTHS, FOR COMMUNICATIONS CABLE FOR 

THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 

MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-12 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF 

DATACOMM CABLING, LLC, INTEGRATED NETWORKING TECHNOLOGIES, LLC, 

AND PEARLNET LLC, FOR A ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, 

BEGINNING NOVEMBER 3, 2016, THROUGH NOVEMBER 2, 2017, FOR HOURLY 

LABOR RATES FOR A TELECOMMUNICATIONS TECHNICIAN FOR THE 

TELECOMMUNICATIONS DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 

MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 1116-13 A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF 

GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE PERIOD OF SEPTEMBER 1, 2016, 

THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30, 2016, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 

SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

 Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee, provided details 

regarding Resolution Nos. 1116-5 through 1116-8, and stated that the Finance 

Committee reviewed and recommended approval.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

14 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 1116-5 through 1116-8. 

 

 In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question regarding Resolution No. 1116-8, 

Sheriff Hammond stated that the 40MM single shot launcher was donated by Joe 

Fowler, Chief of Corrections, for training purposes. He added that type of non-lethal 

equipment is typically used for training purposes, or in rare cases involving mental 

health patients that require restraining.  

  
  

The foregoing Resolutions were unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with 

the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total 

present – 8. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 
Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee, provided details 

regarding Resolution Nos. 1116-9 and 1116-10, and stated that the Finance Committee 

reviewed and recommended approval. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

15 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 1116-9 and 1116-10. The foregoing Resolutions were 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee, provided details 

regarding Resolution Nos. 1116-11 through 1116-13, and stated that the Finance 

Committee reviewed and recommended approval. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 1116-11 through 1116-13. The foregoing Resolutions were 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

16 

 

Chairman Bankston stated that a correction needed to be made to the caption 

wording of Resolution No. 1016-9, adopted on October 5, 2016. He stated that the 

Resolution as adopted incorrectly referred to the Hamilton County Parking Garage as 

the “Newell Tower Parking Deck”. He asked that the corrected caption be read into the 

record. Deputy Clerk Carrie Godwin read the correct caption into the record. There was 

no objection to make the correction, and the Clerk’s office was authorized to correct the 

record. 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

  

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission. 

 

Commissioner Mackey announced that over 1,500 people attended the 

Halloween festivities at the Avondale Recreation Center. He stated that many good 

things were happening in the urban core.  

 

Commissioner Graham announced that a celebration honoring veterans in the 

Lookout Valley area will take place Thursday at 7:00 PM at the John A. Patton 

Recreation Center in Lookout Valley.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

17 

 

Commissioner Boyd stated that while driving through Downtown Chattanooga, he 

noticed a lot of construction and development happening. He noted that this growth was 

a great thing for the community.  

 

Commissioner Smedley recognized her friend and fellow realtor Ron Tucker in 

the audience at today’s meeting. She stated that another realtor, Robert Nodes, usually 

attends the meetings with Mr. Tucker, but recently retired.  

 

Commissioner Smedley announced that Chief Dewayne Pitts, Tri-Community 

Volunteer Fire Department, invited everyone to attend the grand opening of the Apison 

Station Thursday morning at 11:00 AM.  

 

Commissioner Smedley, Commissioner Beck, and Chairman Bankston 

applauded Mayor Coppinger for his dedication, accessibility, and quick response time 

when there is a need in one of their districts. They each noted that anytime they have 

reached out to the Mayor’s Office for help, he has never hesitated to help in any way he 

can. Commissioner Smedley also thanked Lee Norris, Director of General Services, and 

Tom Lamb, Park Supervisor, for their help on an issue in District 7.  

 

Mayor Coppinger thanked Commissioners for representing their districts well and 

notifying his office when issues exist in the community. He added that having good 

working relationships is how effective government should work.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
NOVEMBER 2, 2016 

 

18 

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 

 There being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting in 

recess until Wednesday, November 9th, 2016 at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

      Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 
 
 
 
Approved: 
 
   

________  
Date  Clerk’s Initials 
 

        

 

 

 





















































No. 1116-14 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 
NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, THE OATH OF CHIEF 
JUDICIAL COMMISSIONER, AND OATHS OF JUDICIAL 
COMMISSIONERS. 

   
 
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
“HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY CLERK” have given approved bonds for the office of 
Notary Public and have taken the oath of office; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

person named on the attached listing labeled “OATH OF CHIEF JUDICIAL 
COMMISSIONER” has taken the oath of office.  

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “OATHS OF JUDICIAL 
COMMISSIONERS” have taken the oath of office.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the listing labeled “HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” are hereby approved as applicants to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State; and 

 
2.  That the persons listed on the “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE OF THE 

 COUNTY CLERK” relative to bonds given for the position of Notary Public are 
 hereby approved for such and the bonds are accepted and the oaths therefor are 
 approved as taken; and 

 
3. That the person named on the listing labeled “OATH OF CHIEF JUDICIAL    

COMMISSIONER” is accepted and the oath therefor are approved as taken; and 
 
4. That the persons named on the listing labeled “OATHS OF JUDICIAL    

COMMISSIONERS” are accepted and the oaths therefor are approved as taken; 
and 

 
 5. That each such person named on any listing hereinabove mentioned (which listing 

is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby deemed to have 
been individually considered according to the particular matter relating thereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER PASSAGE. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 

























No. 1116-15 

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

A RESOLUTION TO CONFIRM THE APPOINTMENT BY THE COUNTY MAYOR OF 
JENNETH RANDALL AS COUNTY AUDITOR. 

Whereas: Bill McGriff retired as County Auditor effective September 30, 2016 and 
created a vacancy in the County Auditor’s Office; and, 

Whereas: the County Mayor has appointed Jenneth Randall as County Auditor, 
effective November 16, 2016, at Salary Range 92, with an annual salary 
of $115,880.00. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 

That the appointment of Jenneth Randall as County Auditor is hereby confirmed for a salary as 
stated above and becoming effective November 16, 2016. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: ☐

Rejected: 
☐

 

Approved: ☐

County Clerk 

Vetoed: 
☐

County Mayor 

November 16, 2016 
Date 



No. 1116-16 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO CONFIRM THE APPOINTMENT OF SEVEN MEMBERS TO 
THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY REGIONAL HEALTH COUNCIL 
FOR TERMS AS DESIGNATED HEREIN-BELOW. 
 
WHEREAS,  pursuant to Hamilton County Resolutions No. 282-10 and 482-5, certain   

members of the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Health Council are 
appointed by the County Mayor and confirmed by the Hamilton  County Board 
of Commissioners; and,  

 
WHEREAS,  of the persons previously appointed by the County Mayor, one has died, one 

has retired, another has resigned, and others have not been able to attend a 
sufficient number of meetings during their tenure on said Council; thereby 
creating an inability of said Council to properly perform its duties; and causing 
a need for said appointees to be replaced. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the appointments by the County Mayor of the following persons to the Chattanooga-
Hamilton County Regional Health Council (for terms beginning November 16, 2016, and 
ending as respectively specified) are hereby confirmed: 
 

APPOINTEE REPLACING TERM ENDING 
Angel Moore Dr. Cy Huffman January 2, 2017 
Chris Ramsey Jim Coleman January 2, 2017 
Eve Nite   Pastor Kevin Adams February 19, 2018 
Rachel Schulson  Carlos Parra February 19, 2018 
Dr. Jay Sizemore Sandra Hollett February 19, 2018 
Lesley Scearce Eva Dillard June 22, 2018 
Christian Patino Mai Bell Hurley June 22, 2018 

 



 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 















































No. 1116-17 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO APPOINT A REGULAR MEMBER TO THE SHERIFF CIVIL SERVICE 
ADVISORY BOARD TO FILL THE UNEXPIRED TERM WILLIAM PIPPIN. 
 
WHEREAS, T.C.A. Section 8-8-404 provides for the creation of a Sheriff’s Civil 

Service Advisory Board composed of three (3) members selected by the 
County legislative body; and 

 
WHEREAS, Resolution 401-38 specifies the manner in which the appointments will 

be made; and 
 
WHEREAS, due to the death of William Pippin there exists a vacancy among the 

regular members of the Sheriff Civil Service Advisory Board 
requiring the Commissioners representing Districts 1, 2, and 3 to 
appoint a replacement; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of Hamilton County that Jody Millard be 

appointed to fill the unexpired term created by the death of William 
Pippin. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
The Hamilton County Commission does hereby appoint Jody Millard to the Sheriff Civil 
Service Advisory Board to complete the unexpired term as created by the death of William 
Pippin. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 





No. 1116-18 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXPENDITURE OF UP TO ONE HUNDRED 
FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($150,000.00) FROM BOND FUNDS FOR 
RESURFACING OF THE RED BANK HIGH SCHOOL TRACK. 
 
WHEREAS, there is a need for resurfacing of the track at Red Bank High School; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners desires to fund this project using up to one 

hundred fifty thousand dollars ($150,000.00) in line of credit and/or bond funds 
to complete this project; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Board of Education has approved this project; and 
 
WHEREAS,   the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the 

citizens of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the expenditure of up to one hundred fifty thousand dollars ($150,000.00) in line of 
credit/bond funds be approved for resurfacing of the track at Red Bank High School. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 1116-19 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO URBAN IMPACT INCORPORATED IN 
THE AMOUNT OF FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($5,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND TRAVEL 
DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 
 
WHEREAS, Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated authorized the County Legislative 

Body to make appropriations to nonprofit charitable and civic organizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Legislative Body recognizes the various nonprofit charitable and 

civic organizations located in Hamilton County have great need of funds to carry on 
their nonprofit work; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Warren Mackey has expressed a desire to allocate Five Thousand Dollars 

($5,000.00) from General Fund travel discretionary monies to Urban Impact Inc., to 
assist with programming; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the citizens 

of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00) from General Fund travel discretionary monies be 
appropriated to Urban Impact Inc., to assist with programming. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this appropriation be made subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. That the nonprofit charitable and civic organization to which funds are 

appropriated shall file with the County Clerk and the Administrator of Finance a 
copy of an annual report of its business affairs and transactions and the proposed 
use of the County’s funds.  Such annual report shall be prepared and certified by 
the chief financial officer of such nonprofit organization in accordance with 
Section 5-9-109(c), T.C.A. 

 
 



 

 

2. That said funds must only be used by the named nonprofit charitable and civic 
organization in furtherance of their nonprofit purpose benefiting the general 
welfare of the residents of the County. 

 
3. That it is the expressed interest of the County Commission of Hamilton County 

in providing these funds to the above named organization to be fully in 
compliance with Section 5-9-109 of the Tennessee Code Annotated and any and 
all other laws which may apply to County appropriations to nonprofit charitable 
and civic organizations and so this is made subject to compliance with any and all 
of these laws and regulations. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 









No. 1116-20 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION CORRECTING AN ERROR AS TO THE EXPIRATION OF THE 
TERM IN THE DESIGNATION OF  RANDY RUSSELL AS CHIEF JUDICIAL 
COMMISSIONER TO REFLECT THE CORRECT ENDING DATE AS APRIL 30, 
2017.  
 
WHEREAS,  this county legislative body did reappoint Randy Russell as Chief Judicial 

Commissioner by Resolution No. 1016-39 (on October 26, 2016), and said 
resolution incorrectly stated that the expiration date of said appointment was 
March 31, 2017, where the correct expiration date should have been stated as 
April 30, 2017. 

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the re-appointment of RANDY RUSSELL as Chief Judicial Commissioner, as 
adopted in Resolution No. 1016-39, is hereby amended to reflect the correct term 
ending date of April 30, 2017; and that the remaining provisions of said previously 
adopted resolution remain as adopted. 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING 
IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 1116-21 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT THE PROPOSAL OF EAP CARE, INC. TO PROVIDE EMPLOYEE 
ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (EAP) SERVICES TO HAMILTON COUNTY EMPLOYEES FOR $1.55 
PER EMPLOYEE PER MONTH AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 
CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, proposals were received in response to a public advertisement for a three (3) year 

contract, beginning January 1, 2017, with the option to renew under the same terms 
and conditions for three (3) additional mutually agreeable one (1) year periods, to 
provide  Employee Assistance Program Services for Hamilton County Employees; 
and,  

 
WHEREAS, the EAP Review Committee has evaluated these proposals based on the criteria listed 

in the Request for Proposal; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the proposal received from EAP Care, Inc. was considered the best proposal received; 

and, 
 
WHEREAS,  there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the proposal from EAP Care, Inc. to provide Employee Assistance Program Services to Hamilton 
County employees at a cost of $1.55 per employee per month is hereby accepted, and authorizing the 
County Mayor to sign any contract necessary to implement this resolution.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 



Employee Assistance Program 
RFP # 0816-032 

 

 
Background 
Hamilton County’s Employee Assistance Program has been in existence for 21 years. Our objective in 
offering this EAP is to maintain a safe and healthy workplace.  Employees are Hamilton County’s most 
valuable resource. Most of us have to deal with some type of serious personal problem in our lifetime.  
Some problems concerning marriage, emotional and financial issues and/or substance abuse may start 
affecting our lives at home and at work. When this happens, we may need professional counseling.   
Providing confidential, professional assistance for employees and their families with problems which 
affect their personal lives or job performance is an important element of the benefits Hamilton County 
provides to our employees. 

 
Key elements of the desired program include:   
 

 Counseling Services 

 Employee Referrals Services 

 Education on handling mental health, stress and addictions in the workplace 

 Wellness and health promotion services and motivational psychology programs for smoking 
cessation and weight reduction. 

 Management and Supervisory Support 

 Increased use of technology for Program Promotion, Supervisor Training and Education and 
Employee Seminars and Workshops 

 On-Line Employee Orientation and Education 

 Monitoring of Program Effectiveness using outcomes measurements 

 Records Maintenance and Storage 

 Quality Assurance and Audit 

 Onsite services 
 

 
RFP & Responses 
The County marketed these services through RFP # 0816-032 and received six proposals as follows: 
 
 

VENDOR Per Employee Per 
Month (PEPM) 

Annual Cost based on 1800 
Employees / year 

Access One EAP  $2.50 $54,000.00 

Cigna Behavioral health, Inc. $1.65 $35,640.00 

Deer Oaks EAP Services, LLC $1.20 $25,920.00 

EAP Care, Inc. $1.55 $33,480.00 

Humana EAP and Work-Life Services $2.16 * $46,656.00* 

LifeServices EAP $1.69 $36,504.00 

 
*Humana’s proposal included various cost proposals that included additional add-ons such as Work-Life 
Services, on-site CIRs and seminars. 



Overall Evaluation and Recommendation 
Of the proposals submitted the review narrowed it down to two companies; Deer Oaks EAP Services, 
LLC, and EAP Care Inc. 
 
The proposal for Deer Oaks at $1.20 PEPM, and an annual cost of $25920.00 appears to be lower, 
however the meetings, trainings, etc. are all additional charges and not included in this 
pricing.  Additionally, Deer Oaks is not local.  All referrals to Deer Oaks EAP initiate with a telephonic 
counseling and then may be referred to local in-network providers. There are additional costs for onsite 
trainings that include per hour and travel expenses.   
 
EAP Care is best and potentially lowest proposal considering we use their training services at least 4 
times per year. 
 
Having evaluated the EAP proposals thoroughly it is recommended that EAP Care our current provider 
will be the selection at $1.55 PEPM, $33,480.00 yearly.  







No. 1116-22 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                         (P.C. NO. 2016-138) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT FOR A SHORT 
TERM VACATION RENTAL FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 815 

SOUTH SCENIC HIGHWAY 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Lookout Mountain Vacation Rental & Zachary Wayne Reynolds petitioned the 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Permit for a Short 
Term Vacation Rental for property located at 815 South Scenic Highway, and said Planning 
Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Lookout Mountain Vacation Rental & Zachary Wayne Reynolds requested that 
the County Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general 
circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on November 
16, 2016, concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been 
held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended granting a 
Special Permit for a Short Term Vacation Rental for property located at 815 South Scenic Highway.  
An unplatted tract of land located at 815 South Scenic Highway being the property described in Deed 
Book 9741, Page 82, ROHC.  Tax Map 167A-H-007 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 













No. 1116-23 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                         (P.C. NO. 2016-139) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT FOR A SHORT 
TERM VACATION RENTAL FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7029 

MAPLEWOOD LANE 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Lookout Mountain Vacation Rentals and Jamye Joseph petitioned the 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Permit for a Short 
Term Vacation Rental for property located at 7029 Maplewood Lane, and said Planning Commission 
after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Lookout Mountain Vacation Rentals and Jamye Joseph requested that the County 
Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation 
in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on November 16, 2016, 
concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended granting a 
Special Permit for a Short Term Vacation Rental for property located at 7029 Maplewood Lane.  Lot 
14, Block A, West Park Subdivision, Plat Book 12, Page 15, ROHC, Deed Book 10379, Page 997, 
ROHC.  Tax Map 154E-B-010 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 













No. 1116-24 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                         (P.C. NO. 2016-140) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT FOR A SHORT 
TERM VACATION RENTAL FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 3073 

BAGGETT TRAIL 
 

 
 WHEREAS, Lookout Mountain Vacation Rentals & Alan Haniszewski petitioned the 
Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Permit for a Short 
Term Vacation Rental for property located at 3073 Baggett Trail, and said Planning Commission after 
hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Lookout Mountain Vacation Rentals & Alan Haniszewski requested that the 
County Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general 
circulation in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on November 
16, 2016, concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been 
held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended granting a 
Special Permit for a Short Term Vacation Rental for property located at 3073 Baggett Trail.  An 
unplatted tract of land located at 3073 Baggett Trail being the property described in Deed Book 10553, 
Page 542, ROHC.  Tax Map 097-003 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 













No. 1116-25 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                         (P.C. NO. 2016-142) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT FOR A SHORT 
TERM VACATION RENTAL ON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7808 

HIXSON PIKE 
 
 
 WHEREAS, James Rogers Trustee of Kent A. Olson petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton 
County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Permit for a Short Term Vacation Rental on 
property located at 7808 Hixson Pike, and said Planning Commission after hearing recommended that 
this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, James Rogers Trustee of Kent A. Olson requested that the County Commission 
consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton 
County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on November 16, 2016, concerning the 
passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended granting a 
Special Permit for a Short Term Vacation Rental on property located at 7808 Hixson Pike.  Lot 1, Plat 
of Lakeside Subdivision, Plat Book 17, Page 65, ROHC, Deed Book 8379, Page 38, ROHC.  Tax Map 
092C-A-001 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 













No. 1116-26 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                         (P.C. NO. 2016-143) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT FOR A SHORT 
TERM VACATION RENTAL FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 16112 

LAKEWOOD DRIVE 
 
 
 WHEREAS, James Rogers petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning 
Commission to grant a Special Permit for a Short Term Vacation Rental for property located at 16112 
Lakewood Drive, and said Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be 
approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, James Rogers requested that the County Commission consider said petition and 
notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County that the County 
Commission will hold a public hearing on November 16, 2016, concerning the passage of this Resolution 
as required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended granting a 
Special Permit for a Short Term Vacation Rental for property located at 16112 Lakewood Drive.  Part 
of Lot 16, Corrective Plat of Lakewood Plan No. 2, Plat Book 47, Page 313, ROHC, Deed Book 4965, 
Page 92, ROHC .  Tax Map 016O-B-001 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 













No. 1116- 27A 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                         (P.C. NO. 2016-151) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS PERMIT 
TO LIFT & AMEND CONDITIONS OF RESOLUTION 1114-25C OF 

PREVIOUS CASE NO. 2014-119 FROM PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 
1650 & 1724 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD & 9716 EAST 

BRAINERD ROAD 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa petitioned the Chattanooga-
Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit to Lift & 
Amend Conditions of Resolution 1114-25C of Previous Case No. 2014-119 from properties located at 
1650 & 1724 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road & 9716 East Brainerd Road, and said Planning Commission after 
hearing recommended that this petition be denied amending conditions only; and approve rezoning the 
PUD portion to R-1 Single-Family Residential District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa requested that the County 
Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation 
in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on November 16, 2016, 
concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended granting a 
Special Exceptions Permit to Lift & Amend Conditions of Resolution 1114-25C of Previous Case No. 
2014-119 from properties located at 1650 & 1724 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road & 9716 East Brainerd Road, .  
Three unplatted tracts of land located at 1650 and 1724 Ooltewah Ringgold Road and 9716 East 
Brainerd Road being the properties described in Deed Book 10440, Pages 71, 73, and 77, ROHC.  Tax 
Map 172-056, 056.01 and 064 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 





















No. 1116-27B 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                        (P.C. NO. 2016-151) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS PERMIT 
TO LIFT & AMEND CONDITIONS OF RESOLUTION 1114-25C OF 

PREVIOUS CASE NO. 2014-119 FROM PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 
1650 & 1724 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD & 9716 EAST 

BRAINERD ROAD 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa petitioned the Chattanooga-
Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit to Lift & 
Amend Conditions of Resolution 1114-25C of Previous Case No. 2014-119 from properties located at 
1650 & 1724 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road & 9716 East Brainerd Road, and said Planning Commission after 
hearing recommended that this petition be denied amending conditions only; approve rezoning the 
PUD portion to R-1 Single-Family Residential District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa requested that the County 
Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation 
in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on November 16, 2016, 
concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be denied amending 
conditions only; approve rezoning the PUD portion to R-1 Single-Family Residential District and 
amend the conditions for the remaining C-2 Local Business Commercial District as follows: 
1. Concrete sidewalks, minimum width of 5 feet, shall be placed along the interior edge of the 

landscaped buffer along Ooltewah Ringgold Road and East Brainerd Road, Sidewalks shall be 

outside the right of way. 

2. Concrete sidewalks, minimum width of 5 feet, shall be placed along all interior and private 

streets and drives. 

3. Dumpsters serving the site shall be located behind buildings and screened on all four sides with 

landscaping and/or fencing. Dumpsters serving the out parcels shall be located at least 25-feet 



 

 

from the right-of-ways of East Brainerd Road and Ooltewah Ringgold Road, and shall be 

screened as per the landscape regulations. 

4. Existing natural vegetation and trees shall be preserved and protected for a distance of 80 feet 

from the south boundary. Retention pond(s) are also permitted within this area. 

5. All improvements on East Brainerd Road will require approval from the Hamilton County 

Engineering Department. Improvements include: a. Right of Way in the amount of 40 feet 

from the centerline shall be dedicated to Hamilton County Government. b. The existing 

drainage ditch line shall be relocated as required to the south to allow a minimum 4 foot paved 

shoulder.  The drainage ditch may be piped along the along the shoulder or in the areas 

adjacent to driveways to allow for additional backfilled areas. c. An eastbound right turn lane 

(minimum 100') and westbound left turn lane {minimum 100') into the proposed development 

will be required during construction of phase one. 

6. All proposed or required improvements on Ooltewah Ringgold Road, State Route 321, are 

subject to approval by the Tennessee Department of Transportation (TDOT).  If acceptable to 

TDOT, the middle entrance to the development (south entrance of phase one) and the traffic 

signal, if warranted, will be required during construction of phase one. 

7. All exterior pole lighting shall be a maximum of 30 feet in height. 

8. Off premises (bill boards) and neon signs shall be prohibited. 

9. Storage, car lots, wrecker service, double-wide or manufactured homes, night clubs, adult-

oriented business, tattoo parlors, check cashing, pawn, apartments, free standing residential 

condos, multifamily, temporary structures, and commercial dairies are prohibited uses. 

10. The development shall not exceed 210,000 total square feet; 150,000 square feet maximum 

building size, or 35 feet and/or 2 stories in height.  

Of properties located at 1650 & 1724 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road & 9716 East Brainerd Road, .  Three 

unplatted tracts of land located at 1650 and 1724 Ooltewah Ringgold Road and 9716 East Brainerd 

Road being the properties described in Deed Book 10440, Pages 71, 73, and 77, ROHC.  Tax Map 172-

056, 056.01 and 064 as shown on the attached map. 

 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 





















No. 1116-28A 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                        (P.C. NO. 2016-152) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS PERMIT 
FOR A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1650 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa petitioned the Chattanooga-
Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit for a 
Residential Planned Unit Development for property located at 1650 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road, and said 
Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa requested that the County 
Commission consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation 
in Hamilton County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on November 16, 2016, 
concerning the passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended granting a 
Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development for property located at 1650 
Ooltewah-Ringgold Road. Part of an unplatted tract of land located at 1650 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road 
beginning at its northeast corner, thence southwest some 397 feet, thence some 225 southeast to a point, 
thence some 1276 feet along the east property line to its southeast corner, thence some 450 feet northwest 
along its south line to a point, thence northeast some 1261 feet to a point, thence northeast some 84 feet 
to a point, thence northwest some 445 feet to a point in the north line of said property, thence southeast 
some 477 feet to the northeast corner of said property, the point of beginning as shown on the 9/21/16 
revised site by MAP Engineering, project #16-171 submitted to the case file.  Being part of the property 
described in Deed Book 10440, Pages 73 ROHC.  Tax Map 172-056 (part) as shown on the attached map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 

















No. 1116-28B 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                                           (P.C. NO. 2016-152) 
 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS PERMIT FOR A 
RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR PROPERTY 

LOCATED AT 1650 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County 
Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit 
Development for property located at 1650 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road, and said Planning Commission after hearing 
recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Ooltewah Development, LLC & Bassam Issa requested that the County Commission 
consider said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton County 
that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on November 16, 2016, concerning the passage of this 
Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended granting a Special Exceptions 
Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development,  subject to:  (1) Black coated chain link fence along eastern 
property line; (2) Twenty  foot (20’) Type B landscape buffer along eastern and western property lines; (3) Single-
family dwellings only; and (4) Road improvements to be approved by Hamilton County Engineering Department 
prior to going to County Commission meeting, for property located at 1650 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road. Part of an 
unplatted tract of land located at 1650 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road beginning at its northeast corner, thence 
southwest some 397 feet, thence some 225 southeast to a point, thence some 1276 feet along the east property line to 
its southeast corner, thence some 450 feet northwest along its south line to a point, thence northeast some 1261 feet 
to a point, thence northeast some 84 feet to a point, thence northwest some 445 feet to a point in the north line of 
said property, thence southeast some 477 feet to the northeast corner of said property, the point of beginning as 
shown on the 9/21/16 revised site by MAP Engineering, project #16-171 submitted to the case file.  Being part of 
the property described in Deed Book 10440, Pages 73 ROHC.  Tax Map 172-056 (part) as shown on the attached 
map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 

















No. 1116-29 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 

 A RESOLUTION ADOPTING AN UPDATED RIGHT-OF-WAY 
CLOSURE AND ABANDONMENT POLICY FOR HAMILTON 

COUNTY 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning Commission has reviewed 
a proposal to update right-of-way closure and abandonment policy for Hamilton County, and said 
Planning Commission after hearing recommended approval of the proposed policy to the Hamilton 
County Commission; and 
 
 WHEREAS, notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton 
County that the County Commission will hold a public hearing on November 16, 2016, concerning the 
passage of this Resolution as required by law, and such hearing having been held. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the following Right-Of-Way Closure and Abandonment Policy be 
recommended for approval as follows: 
 
 

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION 
RIGHT-OF-WAY CLOSURE AND ABANDONMENT POLICY (UPDATE DRAFT) V2 

 
1. PURPOSE & INTENT 

The purpose of this policy is to give guidance to citizens, staff, Planning 
Commission members, and elected officials regarding the closure and 
abandonment of rights-of-way. It is intended to form a basis of rationale and 
process for decisions on right-of-way closure and abandonment requests. 
Public rights-of-way are a public resource and an integral element in shaping 
the community. Rights-of-way contain roads and other public services, allow 
access to, and servicing of, individual properties along its frontage, and 
provide shape and form to our neighborhoods and to commercial and 
industrial areas. For these reasons, it is in the public’s and the jurisdictional 
authorities’ interest to retain rights-of-way and to give due consideration to 
right-of-way closure and abandonment. 



It is the policy of the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning 
Commission to retain rights-of-way for public use and only to recommend the 
permanent closure and abandonment of rights-of-way when it is 
demonstrated that the public has no further need or interest to retain the 
right-of-way and that its abandonment is necessary to achieve a significant 
private or public interest. 

2. DEFINITIONS (for the purposes of this policy only) 

Abandonment- Relinquishing local government’s right to use or maintain a 
public right-of-way. Note: Closed and abandoned right-of-way does not 
determine ownership of land. Location of the new property lines is 
determined through a title search and the plat recording process which is the 
responsibility of the respective property owners.  
Acceptance- Agreeing either expressly or by conduct to the act or offer of 
another that a right-of-way is under public domain. 
For purposes of this policy, acceptance of rights-of-way indicates the 
City/County has an established interest in it. This interest could have been 
established by being formally accepted through the subdivision platting 
process or acceptance by specific legislative act (i.e., ordinance or resolution). 
Rights-of-way, whether maintained by the jurisdiction or allowed to remain 
unimproved, may be classified as either having been accepted by the local 
jurisdiction or it may have been dedicated and offered for acceptance but 
never actually accepted by the local government. 
Alley- A way which affords secondary means of access to abutting property. 
Closed- Right-of-way that has been abandoned through city or county 
ordinance. Note: Closed and abandoned right-of-way does not determine 
ownership of land. Location of the new property lines is determined through a 
title search and the plat recording process which is the responsibility of the 
respective property owners. 
Dedication- The transfer of property interests from private to public 
ownership for a public purpose. The transfer may be of fee-simple interest or 
of a less than fee-simple interest, including an easement. Note: dedication 
does not guarantee the acceptance of the right-of-way by the city or county. 
Landlocked- A condition whereby a lot has no frontage on a public right-of-
way. 
Mandatory Referral- Provisions under TCA 13-4-104 for review of public 
ways or streets prior to vacating or change of use. The term “Mandatory 
Referral” is not found in this section however it is understood that the 
mandatory referral term was derived by this section’s implication that the 
stated actions are mandatory under state law and that the proposals are to be 
referred to the planning commission for action before the legislative body’s 
consideration.  The statutory requirement to submit and make 
recommendations on public projects, including the widening, narrowing, 
relocation, vacation, change in the use, acceptance, acquisition, sale or lease 



of any street or public way, ground, place, property or structure is required 
by TCA Section 13-4-104. 
Right-Of-Way- The strip of land over which is built, or proposed to be built, a 
public way. In addition to the roadway, it typically incorporates the curbs, 
lawn/planting strips, sidewalks, lighting and drainage facilities, and may 
include special features such as grade separation, landscaped areas, viaducts, 
and bridges. The presence or absence of these elements within public right-
of-way does not necessarily imply the relevant jurisdictional authority is 
responsible for construction or maintenance of those elements. 
Streets- A way that affords primary access to an abutting property.  
Way- A street or alley or other thoroughfare or easement permanently 
established for passage of persons or vehicles. 
 

3. CLASSIFICATION TIERS 
Rights-of-way will be reviewed under the following tiered classifications: 

Tier 1: The rights-of-way are dedicated for public use and maintained by 
the jurisdictional authority. They are physically open and in use by the 
public. These rights-of-way provide a full level of service to the abutting 
property owners or to utilities. They include any elements of a normal 
road, which may include but are not limited to, road pavement, sidewalks, 
curbs, storm drainage systems, sanitary drainage systems, water 
distribution systems, fire hydrants, utilities (electric, telephone, cable 
television, gas), provision for future utilities, streetlights, and trees.  
POLICY: These rights-of-way will not be closed or abandoned unless a 
suitable replacement is provided. Applications for closure and 
abandonment of the rights-of-way will be reviewed using the review 
factors and according to the tenets of this policy. 

Tier 2: These rights-of-way are dedicated for public use but are not 
maintained by the jurisdictional authority. They are not physically open or 
only partially opened. These rights-of-way provide limited access to the 
abutting property owners or to utilities or are directly connected to a Tier 
1 right-of-way. 

 POLICY: Applications for closure and abandonment of these rights-of-
way will be reviewed using the review factors and according to the 
tenets of this policy. 

Tier 3: These rights-of-way are dedicated for public use but are not 
maintained by the jurisdictional authority. They are not physically open 
and provide no access to the abutting property owners or to utilities. 

 POLICY: Applications for closure and abandonment of these rights-of-
way will be reviewed using the review factors and according to the 
tenets of this policy. 

4. REVIEW FACTORS 
The evaluation of a closure and abandonment request is based on the 
following review factors: 



 

 

1. Width of right-of-way. 
2. Presence of or potential for the location of utilities. 
3. Currently open to vehicular, bicycle, or pedestrian traffic. 
4. Potential for future use or which provides future connections to the 

existing street pattern or could provide needed services, and which are 
integral to the community’s future development (i.e, access to abutting 
property, bypass for other streets, parking, pedestrian connectivity, etc.). 

5. Type/conditions of surface. 
6. Does the topography/grade impede the potential use of a right-of-way for 

vehicles, bicycles, or pedestrians? 
7. Will the closure and abandonment landlock any property. If so, has a 

subdivision plat been submitted which eliminates this situation? 
8. Identification of a suitable replacement.  
 

5. PROCESS 

Application. The Regional Planning Agency (RPA) will accept petitions for 
closure and abandonment of any right-of-way created by plat, by deed or by 
drawing, by ordinance/resolution and which are of public record according to 
the tenets of this policy.  
Review. Rights-of-way will be reviewed by various public agencies, utility 
companies, and the jurisdictional engineer or transportation department 
according to the tenets of this policy to determine its current use and its 
potential for future development. 
Planning Commission. The Chattanooga-Hamilton County Regional Planning 
Commission will review and make a recommendation to the jurisdictional 
legislative body according to the tenets of this policy and the 
recommendations of the reviewers. The jurisdictional legislative body takes 
final action to approve or deny a right-of-way closure and abandonment. 

 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 











No. 1116-30 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF IAPRO SOFTWARE AND SUPPORT 
SERVICES FROM CI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. FOR THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE AMOUNTING TO 
$34,000.00 AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 
NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, a quotation was received from CI Technologies, Inc. for IAPro software and support 

services that will be utilized to track internal affairs complaints, internal and 
external, for the Sheriff’s Office; and, 

 
WHEREAS, CI Technologies, Inc. is considered a sole source for this service; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the quotation from CI Technologies, Inc. amounting to $34,000.00 was considered 

reasonable; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the quotation from CI Technologies, Inc. for the purchase of IAPro software and support services, 
amounting to $34,000.00 for the Sheriff’s Office is hereby accepted, and authorizing the County Mayor 
to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 























No. 1116-31 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF NS400 SERIES LOCKS FROM WESTERN 
DETENTION PRODUCTS INC., FOR HAMILTON COUNTY JUVENILE COURT DETENTION 
CENTER AMOUNTING TO $22,915.00, AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 
ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, a quotation was received from Western Detention Products Inc. for NS400 series 

locks that have been adapted to fit the old 900 series locks at the Hamilton County 
Juvenile Court Detention Center; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Western Detention Inc. is considered a sole source for this service; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the quotation from Western Detention Inc. amounting to $22,915.00 was considered 

reasonable; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the quotation from Western Detention Products Inc. for the purchase of NS400 series locks, 
amounting to $22,915.00 for the Hamilton County Juvenile Court Detention Center is hereby accepted, 
and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 





From: Therese Araiza
To: Burley, Janie
Subject: RE: Hamilton County Government - Sole source provider
Date: Thursday, October 27, 2016 3:00:45 PM

Janie,
In this scenario, yes Western Detention is the only distributor that can supply you with the correct
lock. 
 
The old FA900 series lock is a 9pin adaptor and the new NS400 is a 12 pin lock.  Western is the only
distributor that knows how to make the adaptor to make the NS400 a 9 pin lock. 
 
Thank you for reaching out. 
 
Regards,
 
Therese Araiza
Marketing Manager
210-531-2729 direct
210-533-2211 fax
http://www.southernfolger.com 

Notice:Contents of this e-mail and any attachments sent from Southern Folger Detention
Equipment Co. are confidential, possibly privileged and intended only for its addressee. If you
have received this message in error, you must not disclose, copy, circulate or in any other way
use or rely on the information contained in this message. If you have received this message in
error, please contact Southern Folger Detention Equipment Co. at (210) 533-1231 and delete it
and all copies from your system.
 
 
 

From: Burley, Janie [mailto:JanieB@HamiltonTN.gov] 
Sent: Thursday, October 27, 2016 1:16 PM
To: Therese Araiza <TAraiza@southernfolger.com>
Subject: Hamilton County Government - Sole source provider
 
Hi Teresa,
 
This is what we require:
 
17    Folger Adam NS402E-4 LHR (left hand) Deadlatch 32D less Cylinder 24 volt DC with 9 pin
connector
 

mailto:TAraiza@southernfolger.com
mailto:JanieB@HamiltonTN.gov
tel:2105312729
tel:2105332211
http://www.southernfolger.com/
https://youtu.be/Sou-bCyPGUg
tel:2105331231


15    Folger Adam NS402E-4 RHR (right hand) Deadlatch 32D less Cylinder 24 volt DC with 9 pin
connector
 
1      Folger Adam 125EMLL LHR (left hand) 115 volt AC less cylinder SW #25 LHR
 
I am just trying to find out if Western Detention is the only company (of the three listed on your
website) that can help us replace our old 900 series Folger Adam locks.
 
Kind regards,
 
Janie
 
Janie Burley
Senior Buyer / RFP Coordinator
Hamilton County Government
455 N. Highland Park Ave.
Chattanooga, TN 37404
 
423.209.6353 (tel)
423.209.6351 (fax)
JanieB@HamiltonTN.gov
 

mailto:JanieB@HamiltonTN.gov


CA TAX #100-869348  CA CORP #C3195221

FEDERAL ID# 91-2018057
E-MAIL: CHUCKC@hamiltontn.gov

PHONE: 423-209-5161FAX: 423-209-5159

CHUCKATTN:

Discount based on all items quoted.  Quote valid for 45 days.  Cancellations or returns are

E-MAIL:

FAX:PHONE:

sales@westerndetention.com

509-292-2449509-292-2438

WESTERN DETENTION PRODUCTS INC
3711 E. DEER PARK - MILAN RD.          Quote

QUOTE #: 20160035

Ship To:

HAMILTON COUNTY JUVENILE COURT-TN
1600 EAST 3RD STREET
CHATTANOOGA, TN 37404

SALESPERSON: MATTHEW KNOX

DATE: 10/28/2016

QTY. ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE
EXTENDED

PRICE TX.

SHIPPING INCLUDED QUOTE AMT.

FREIGHT

SALES TAX

TOTAL AMT.

17 NS402E-04 LHR DEADLATCH 32D LESS CYL 24VDC 9 PIN $688.00 $11,696.00
15 NS402E-04 RHR DEADLATCH 32D LESS CYL 24VDC 9 PIN $688.00 $10,320.00

1 126EMLL LHR 126EML115VAC LESS CYL SW #25 LHR $899.00 $899.00

$22,915.00

$0.00

$0.00

$22,915.00



No. 1116-32 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO ENTER INTO A 
CONTRACT BETWEEN THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY, 
TENNESSEE EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY AND HAMILTON COUNTY IN 
THE AMOUNT OF $ 150,500 (ONE HUNDRED AND FIFTY THOUSAND AND FIVE 
HUNDRED DOLLARS). 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Emergency Services performs many varied duties relating 
to the responsibilities connected with said office as designated by the Tennessee Emergency 
Management Agency; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Tennessee Emergency Management Agency agrees to reimburse on a 50% 
(fifty percent) basis, the Hamilton County Emergency Service’s cost of operating and 
maintaining its emergency management program, subject to the availability of funds under the 
Emergency Management Performance Grant (EMPG) allocation from Region IV, Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA); and. 
 
WHEREAS,  in accordance with the aforementioned obligation, in no event shall the liability 
for the State under the contract exceed $150,500 (one hundred and fifty thousand and five 
hundred dollars) to be paid in accordance with paragraph C, Payment Terms and Conditions, 
being subject to amendment upon written approval by the State; and, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the County Mayor of Hamilton County is hereby authorized to enter into said contract 
with the Tennessee Emergency management Agency with a period 10/01/2015 to 06/30/2017 
in the amount of $150,500 (one hundred and fifty thousand and five hundred dollars) and is 
hereby authorized to affix signature to said contract.  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 



6-20-16 GG 

 

 

G O V E R N M E N T A L  G R AN T  C O N T R A C T  
(cost reimbursement grant contract with a federal or Tennessee local governmental entity or their 
agents and instrumentalities) 

Begin Date End Date Agency Tracking # Edison ID 

10/01/2015 06/30/2017 34101-08117  
Grantee Legal Entity Name Edison Vendor ID 

HAMILTON COUNTY 4208 
Subrecipient or Contractor CFDA # 97.042 

 Subrecipient   

 Contractor Grantee’s fiscal year end June 30th 

Service Caption (one line only) 

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE GRANT FEDERAL FISCAL YEAR 2016 
Funding — 
FY State Federal Interdepartmental Other TOTAL Grant Contract Amount 

2017       150,500.00             150,500.00 

                                   

                                   

                                   

                                   

TOTAL:       150,500.00             150,500.00 

 

Grantee Selection Process Summary 

 Competitive Selection  

 Non-competitive Selection This contract is in the best interest of the State.  It is in accordance with the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency, Emergency Management Performance Grant Program, established by 
the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. § 
5121 et seq.), to provide grant funding to assist state emergency management agencies and 
local emergency management agencies in obtaining the resources required to support the 
National Preparedness Goal’s associated Mission Areas and Core Capabilities. This grant 
increases the State and local effectiveness by providing the necessary direction, coordination, 
guidance, and assistance as authorized in this title so that a comprehensive emergency 
preparedness system exists for all hazards. The Grants are open to all local governments, state 
agencies, tribal and territorial governments as authorized by Section 662 of the Post Katrina 
Emergency Management Reform Act (6 U.S.C. § 762) This contract was negotiated with a local 
governmental entity which follows the state and local procurement laws, federal government 
Office of Management and Budget (A-87, Principles for State, Local, and Indian Tribal 
Governments), and in accordance with the Code of Federal Regulations 44.13.36 for 
procurement.   

Budget Officer Confirmation:  There is a balance in the 
appropriation from which obligations hereunder are 
required to be paid that is not already encumbered to pay 
other obligations. 

CPO USE - GG 

Speed Chart (optional) Account Code (optional)  
      71301000  

 
 

 
 



6-20-16 GG 

 

GRANT CONTRACT 
BETWEEN THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, 

DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY, TENNESSEE EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY 
AND 

HAMILTON COUNTY 
 

This grant contract (“Grant Contract”), by and between the State of Tennessee, Department of Military, 
Tennessee Emergency Management Agency, hereinafter referred to as the “State” or the “Grantor State 
Agency” and Grantee Hamilton County, hereinafter referred to as the “Grantee,” is for the provision of 
pass-through funding to subsidize emergency management, as further defined in the "SCOPE OF 
SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES." 
 
Grantee Edison Vendor ID #  4208 
 
A. SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES: 
 
A.1. The Grantee shall provide the scope of services and deliverables (“Scope”) as required, 

described, and detailed in this Grant Contract. 
 
A.2. Each Grant will be in accordance with items outlined in Tennessee Code Annotated (TCA) 58-2-

110; et al., the Program Worksheet (PW) as approved by the appropriate Regional Director (RD) 
of the Tennessee Emergency Management Agency (TEMA) and in coordination with the U.S. 
Department of Homeland Security (DHS), Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), 
Grant Programs Directorate (GPD) and the local Emergency Management Agency (EMA). 

 
A.3. Each Grant will incorporate the PW as a part of Attachment 2. 

 
A.4. Incorporation of Additional Documents.  In the event of a discrepancy or ambiguity regarding the 

Grantee’s duties, responsibilities, and performance under this Grant Contract, the following 
documents, incorporated by reference or attachment, shall govern in order of precedence as 
detailed below. 
 
a. this Grant Contract and all of its attachments and exhibits, excluding the documents listed 

at b. and c., below; 
 
b. the associated grant proposal solicitation, if any, along with any associated amendments; 

and 
 
c. the Grantee’s proposal (Attachment 2) incorporated hereto as additional description of 

the scope of services requirements. 
 
A.5.      The Federal Award Identification Worksheet shall be included as a part of this grant contract and 

designated as Attachment 3. 
 
B. TERM OF CONTRACT: 
 
B.1. This Grant Contract shall be effective on October 1, 2015 (“Effective Date”) and extend for a 

period of twenty-one (21) months after the Effective Date, thereby ending on June 30, 2017 
(“Term”).  The State shall have no obligation to the Grantee for fulfillment of the Scope outside 
the Term.  

 
B.2. Federal Preaward Authority.  The Parties acknowledge that the State has the power to expend 

funds under this Grant Contract in accordance with applicable federal preaward authority.  
Federal preaward authority is a system under which recipients of federal grant money may incur 
certain project costs before the final approval of a federal grant and may retain eligibility for 
subsequent reimbursement after grant approval.  The payment obligations of this Grant Contract 

1 



6-20-16 GG 

 

may be predicated wholly or in part on the State’s exercise of federal preaward authority.  By 
accepting the terms of this Grant Contract, the Grantee acknowledges the following:  

 
a. With regard to the Grantee’s activities prior to the Effective Date of this Grant Contract, 

only those activities which meet all of the following requirements shall be considered for 
reimbursement: 

  (1) Activities that are reasonably related to the Scope of Services; 
  (2) Activities in whose absence the Scope of Services could not be completed or 

performed; and 
  (3) Activities that meet the relevant federal agency’s requirements for reimbursement 

under federal preaward authority. 
 
b. The Grantee understands the federal preaward authority system and its relation to this 

Grant Contract. 
 
c. Preaward authority is not a legal or implied commitment that the work contemplated in 

this Grant Contract will be approved for federal assistance or that a federal agency will 
obligate funds.  Furthermore, it is not a legal or implied commitment that all items 
undertaken by the Grantee will the eligible for inclusion in a federally funded project. 

 
d. It is the Grantee’s responsibility to ensure its own compliance with the policies and 

requirements of the relevant federal agency with regard to the goods or services 
contemplated in this Grant Contract.  The Grantee assumes all risk and is responsible for 
ensuring that all conditions are met to retain eligibility for federal reimbursement via grant. 

 
e. To the extent that this Grant Contract is funded through federal preaward authority, the 

State’s obligations under Section C of this Grant Contract shall be void in the event that 
any of the following occur: 

  (1) the Grantee fails to comply with the grantor federal agency’s policies and 
regulations; 

  (2) the relevant federal agency fails or refuses to finalize a grant; or  
  (3) the relevant federal agency refuses to reimburse specific expenses incurred 

under preaward authority. 
 
 f. The start date of the State’s federal preaward authority is October 1, 2015. 

 
C. PAYMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   

 
C.1. Maximum Liability.  In no event shall the maximum liability of the State under this Grant Contract 

exceed one hundred fifty thousand five hundred and 00/100 ($150,500.00) (“Maximum Liability”).  
The Grant Budget, attached and incorporated as Attachment 1 is the maximum amount due the 
Grantee under this Grant Contract.  The Grant Budget line-items include, but are not limited to, all 
applicable taxes, fees, overhead, and all other direct and indirect costs incurred or to be incurred 
by the Grantee. 

 
C.2. Compensation Firm.  The Maximum Liability of the State is not subject to escalation for any 

reason unless amended.  The Grant Budget amounts are firm for the duration of the Grant 
Contract and are not subject to escalation for any reason unless amended, except as provided in 
Section C.6. 

 
C.3. Payment Methodology.  The Grantee shall be reimbursed for actual, reasonable, and necessary 

costs based upon the Grant Budget, not to exceed the Maximum Liability established in Section 
C.1.  Upon progress toward the completion of the Scope, as described in Section A of this Grant 
Contract, the Grantee shall submit invoices prior to any reimbursement of allowable costs.   

2 



6-20-16 GG 

 

 
C.4. Travel Compensation.  Reimbursement to the Grantee for travel, meals, or lodging shall be 

subject to amounts and limitations specified in the "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," as 
they are amended from time to time, and shall be contingent upon and limited by the Grant 
Budget funding for said reimbursement.   

 
C.5. Invoice Requirements. The Grantee shall invoice the State no more often than monthly, with all 

necessary supporting documentation, and present such to: 
 

Tennessee Emergency Management Agency 
EMPG Program 
3041 Sidco Drive 
Nashville, TN 37204 
 
a. Each invoice shall clearly and accurately detail all of the following required information 

(calculations must be extended and totaled correctly). 
 
(1) Invoice/Reference Number (assigned by the Grantee). 
(2) Invoice Date. 
(3) Invoice Period (to which the reimbursement request is applicable). 
(4) Grant Contract Number (assigned by the State).  
(5) Grantor:  Department of Military, Tennessee Emergency Management Agency.   
(6) Grantor Number (assigned by the Grantee to the above-referenced Grantor). 
(7) Grantee Name.  
(8) Grantee Tennessee Edison Registration ID Number Referenced in Preamble of 

this Grant Contract. 
(9) Grantee Remittance Address. 
(10) Grantee Contact for Invoice Questions (name, phone, or fax). 
(11) Itemization of Reimbursement Requested for the Invoice Period— it must detail, 

at minimum, all of the following:  
 
i. The amount requested by Grant Budget line-item (including any travel 

expenditure reimbursement requested and for which documentation and 
receipts, as required by "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," are 
attached to the invoice). 

ii. The amount reimbursed by Grant Budget line-item to date. 
iii. The total amount reimbursed under the Grant Contract to date.  
iv. The total amount requested (all line-items) for the Invoice Period. 
 

b. The Grantee understands and agrees to all of the following. 
 
(1) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall include only reimbursement requests 

for actual, reasonable, and necessary expenditures required in the delivery of 
service described by this Grant Contract and shall be subject to the Grant Budget 
and any other provision of this Grant Contract relating to allowable 
reimbursements.  

(2) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall not include any reimbursement 
request for future expenditures. 

(3) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall initiate the timeframe for 
reimbursement only when the State is in receipt of the invoice, and the invoice 
meets the minimum requirements of this section C.5. 

 
C.6. Budget Line-Items.  Expenditures, reimbursements, and payments under this Grant Contract shall 

adhere to the Grant Budget.  Reimbursable expenditures may NOT vary from the Grant Budget 
line-item amounts.   

 

3 



6-20-16 GG 

 

C.7. Disbursement Reconciliation and Close Out.  The Grantee shall submit any final invoice and a 
grant disbursement reconciliation report within sixty (60) days of the Grant Contract end date and 
in form and substance acceptable to the State.   
 
a. The Grant Budget specifies a Grantee Match Requirement and the final grant 

disbursement reconciliation report shall detail all Grantee expenditures recorded to meet 
this requirement. 
 
(1) No Grantee expenditure shall be recorded and reported toward meeting a 

Grantee Match Requirement of more than one grant contract with the State. 
 
(2) The final grant disbursement reconciliation report shall specifically detail the 

exact amount of any Grantee failure to meet a Match Requirement, and the 
maximum total amount reimbursable by the State pursuant to this Grant 
Contract, as detailed by the Grant Budget column “Grant Contract,” shall be 
reduced by the amount that the Grantee failed to contribute to the Total Project 
as budgeted. 

 
b. If total disbursements by the State pursuant to this Grant Contract exceed the amounts 

permitted by the section C, payment terms and conditions of this Grant Contract 
(including any adjustment pursuant to subsection a.(2) above), the Grantee shall refund 
the difference to the State.  The Grantee shall submit the refund with the final grant 
disbursement reconciliation report. 

 
c. The State shall not be responsible for the payment of any invoice submitted to the state 

after the grant disbursement reconciliation report.  The State will not deem any Grantee 
costs submitted for reimbursement after the grant disbursement reconciliation report to 
be allowable and reimbursable by the State, and such invoices will NOT be paid. 

 
d. The Grantee’s failure to provide a final grant disbursement reconciliation report to the 

state as required shall result in the Grantee being deemed ineligible for reimbursement 
under this Grant Contract, and the Grantee shall be required to refund any and all 
payments by the state pursuant to this Grant Contract.   

 
e. The Grantee must close out its accounting records at the end of the contract period in 

such a way that reimbursable expenditures and revenue collections are NOT carried 
forward. 

 
C.8. Indirect Cost.  Should the Grantee request reimbursement for indirect costs, the Grantee must 

submit to the State a copy of the indirect cost rate approved by the cognizant federal agency or 
the cognizant state agency, as applicable.  The Grantee will be reimbursed for indirect costs in 
accordance with the approved indirect cost rate and amounts and limitations specified in the 
attached Grant Budget.  Once the Grantee makes an election and treats a given cost as direct or 
indirect, it must apply that treatment consistently and may not change during the Term.  Any 
changes in the approved indirect cost rate must have prior approval of the cognizant federal 
agency or the cognizant state agency, as applicable.  If the indirect cost rate is provisional during 
the Term, once the rate becomes final, the Grantee agrees to remit any overpayment of funds to 
the State, and subject to the availability of funds the State agrees to remit any underpayment to 
the Grantee. 

 
C.9. Cost Allocation.  If any part of the costs to be reimbursed under this Grant Contract are joint costs 

involving allocation to more than one program or activity, such costs shall be allocated and 
reported in accordance with the provisions of Department of Finance and Administration Policy 
Statement 03 or any amendments or revisions made to this policy statement during the Term. 

 

4 



6-20-16 GG 

 

C.10. Payment of Invoice.  A payment by the State shall not prejudice the State's right to object to or 
question any reimbursement, invoice, or related matter.  A payment by the State shall not be 
construed as acceptance of any part of the work or service provided or as approval of any 
amount as an allowable cost.   

 
C.11. Non-allowable Costs.  Any amounts payable to the Grantee shall be subject to reduction for 

amounts included in any invoice or payment that are determined by the State, on the basis of 
audits or monitoring conducted in accordance with the terms of this Grant Contract, to constitute 
unallowable costs.   

 
C.12. State’s Right to Set Off.  The State reserves the right to set off or deduct from amounts that are or 

shall become due and payable to the Grantee under this Grant Contract or under any other 
agreement between the Grantee and the State of Tennessee under which the Grantee has a right 
to receive payment from the State. 

 
C.13. Prerequisite Documentation.  The Grantee shall not invoice the State under this Grant Contract 

until the State has received the following, properly completed documentation.   
 

a. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and return to the State an "Authorization Agreement 
for Automatic Deposit (ACH Credits) Form" provided by the State.  By doing so, the 
Grantee acknowledges and agrees that, once this form is received by the State, all 
payments to the Grantee under this or any other grant contract will be made by 
automated clearing house (“ACH”). 

 
b. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and return to the State the State-provided W-9 form.  

The taxpayer identification number on the W-9 form must be the same as the Grantee’s 
Federal Employer Identification Number or Social Security Number referenced in the 
Grantee’s Edison registration information.  

 
D. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 
 
D.1. Required Approvals.  The State is not bound by this Grant Contract until it is signed by the parties 

and approved by appropriate officials in accordance with applicable Tennessee laws and 
regulations (depending upon the specifics of this Grant Contract, the officials may include, but are 
not limited to, the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human 
Resources, and the Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.2. Modification and Amendment.  This Grant Contract may be modified only by a written amendment 

signed by all parties and approved by the officials who approved the Grant Contract and, 
depending upon the specifics of the Grant Contract as amended, any additional officials required 
by Tennessee laws and regulations (the officials may include, but are not limited to, the 
Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human Resources, and the 
Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.3. Termination for Convenience.  The State may terminate this Grant Contract without cause for any 

reason.  A termination for convenience shall not be a breach of this Grant Contract by the State.  
The State shall give the Grantee at least thirty (30) days written notice before the effective 
termination date.  The Grantee shall be entitled to compensation for authorized expenditures and 
satisfactory services completed as of the termination date, but in no event shall the State be liable 
to the Grantee for compensation for any service that has not been rendered.  The final decision 
as to the amount for which the State is liable shall be determined by the State.   The Grantee 
shall not have any right to any actual general, special, incidental, consequential, or any other 
damages whatsoever of any description or amount for the State’s exercise of its right to terminate 
for convenience.  

 

5 



6-20-16 GG 

 

D.4. Termination for Cause.  If the Grantee fails to properly perform its obligations under this Grant 
Contract, or if the Grantee violates any terms of this Grant Contract, the State shall have the right 
to immediately terminate this Grant Contract and withhold payments in excess of fair 
compensation for completed services.  Notwithstanding the exercise of the State’s right to 
terminate this Grant Contract for cause, the Grantee shall not be relieved of liability to the State 
for damages sustained by virtue of any breach of this Grant Contract by the Grantee. 

 
D.5. Subcontracting.  The Grantee shall not assign this Grant Contract or enter into a subcontract for 

any of the services performed under this Grant Contract without obtaining the prior written 
approval of the State.  If such subcontracts are approved by the State, each shall contain, at a 
minimum, sections of this Grant Contract pertaining to "Conflicts of Interest," “Lobbying,” 
"Nondiscrimination," “Public Accountability,” “Public Notice,” and “Records" (as identified by the 
section headings).  Notwithstanding any use of approved subcontractors, the Grantee shall 
remain responsible for all work performed. 

 
D.6. Conflicts of Interest.  The Grantee warrants that no part of the total Grant Contract Amount shall 

be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of the State of Tennessee as wages, 
compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or 
consultant to the Grantee in connection with any work contemplated or performed relative to this 
Grant Contract.   

 
D.7. Lobbying.  The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that:  
 

a. No federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 
undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or 
an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any federal 
contract, the making of any federal grant, the making of any federal loan, the entering into 
of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or 
modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

 
b. If any funds other than federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 

person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with this contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the 
Grantee shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure of Lobbying 
Activities,'' in accordance with its instructions. 

 
c. The Grantee shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 

documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and 
contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients 
shall certify and disclose accordingly.   

 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 
transaction was made or entered into and is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. 

 
D.8. Communications and Contacts.  All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other 

communications required or contemplated by this Grant Contract shall be in writing and shall be 
made by certified, first class mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, by overnight 
courier service with an asset tracking system, or by email or facsimile transmission with recipient 
confirmation.  All communications, regardless of method of transmission, shall be addressed to 
the respective party as set out below:  

  
The State: 
 

6 



6-20-16 GG 

Bill Worth, Director Chris Johnson, Director Jane Waldrop, Director 
East TN Region Middle TN Region West TN Region 
803 N. Concord St. 3041 Sidco Drive 1510 R. E. Bailey Bypass 
Knoxville, TN  37919 Nashville, TN  37204 Jackson, TN  38302 
bworth@tnema.org cjohnson@tnema.org jwaldrop@tnema.org 
Phone #: (865) 594-5664 Phone #: (615) 741-7342 Phone #: (731) 422-3300 
FAX #: (865) 594-5668 FAX #: (615) 741-0498 FAX #: (731) 423-6621 

The Grantee: 

Jim Coppinger, County Mayor 
Hamilton County 
625 Georgia Avenue, Courthouse Room 208 
Chattanooga, TN  37402 
countymayor@hamiltontn.gov 
Telephone #:  (423) 209-6105 
FAX #:  (423) 209-6101 

Point of Contact: 

Tony Reavley, Director 
Hamilton County ES
317 Oak Street, Suite 302 
Chattanooga, TN  37403 
treavley@hamiltontn.gov 
Telephone #: (423) 209-6900 
FAX #: (423) 209-6901 

A change to the above contact information requires written notice to the person designated by the 
other party to receive notice.    

All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other communications shall be considered 
effectively given upon receipt or recipient confirmation as may be required. 

D.9. Subject to Funds Availability.  This Grant Contract is subject to the appropriation and availability 
of State or Federal funds.  In the event that the funds are not appropriated or are otherwise 
unavailable, the State reserves the right to terminate this Grant Contract upon written notice to 
the Grantee.  The State’s right to terminate this Grant Contract due to lack of funds is not a 
breach of this Grant Contract by the State.  Upon receipt of the written notice, the Grantee shall 
cease all work associated with the Grant Contract.  Should such an event occur, the Grantee 
shall be entitled to compensation for all satisfactory and authorized services completed as of the 
termination date.  Upon such termination, the Grantee shall have no right to recover from the 
State any actual, general, special, incidental, consequential, or any other damages whatsoever of 
any description or amount. 

D.10. Nondiscrimination.  The Grantee hereby agrees, warrants, and assures that no person shall be 
excluded from participation in, be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination 
in the performance of this Grant Contract or in the employment practices of the Grantee on the 
grounds of handicap or disability, age, race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or any other 
classification protected by federal, Tennessee state constitutional, or statutory law.  The Grantee 
shall, upon request, show proof of nondiscrimination and shall post in conspicuous places, 
available to all employees and applicants, notices of nondiscrimination. 

D.11. HIPAA Compliance.  The State and the Grantee shall comply with obligations under the Health 
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), Health Information Technology for 
Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH) and any other relevant laws and regulations 

7 



6-20-16 GG 

 

regarding privacy (collectively the “Privacy Rules”).  The obligations set forth in this Section shall 
survive the termination of this Grant Contract.  

 
a. The Grantee warrants to the State that it is familiar with the requirements of the Privacy 

Rules and will comply with all applicable HIPAA requirements in the course of this Grant 
Contract. 

 
b. The Grantee warrants that it will cooperate with the State, including cooperation and 

coordination with State privacy officials and other compliance officers required by the 
Privacy Rules, in the course of performance of this  Grant Contract so that both parties 
will be in compliance with the Privacy Rules.  

 
c. The State and the Grantee will sign documents, including but not limited to business 

associate agreements, as required by the Privacy Rules and that are reasonably 
necessary to keep the State and the Grantee in compliance with the Privacy Rules.  This 
provision shall not apply if information received by the State under this Grant Contract is 
NOT “protected health information” as defined by the Privacy Rules, or if the Privacy 
Rules permit the State to receive such information without entering into a business 
associate agreement or signing another such document. 

 
D.12. Public Accountability.  If the Grantee is subject to Tenn. Code Ann. § 8-4-401 et seq., or if this 

Grant Contract involves the provision of services to citizens by the Grantee on behalf of the State, 
the Grantee agrees to establish a system through which recipients of services may present 
grievances about the operation of the service program. The Grantee shall also display in a 
prominent place, located near the passageway through which the public enters in order to receive 
Grant supported services, a sign at least eleven inches (11") in height and seventeen inches (17") 
in width stating: 

 
NOTICE:  THIS AGENCY IS A RECIPIENT OF TAXPAYER FUNDING. IF YOU OBSERVE AN 
AGENCY DIRECTOR OR EMPLOYEE ENGAGING IN ANY ACTIVITY WHICH YOU CONSIDER 
TO BE ILLEGAL, IMPROPER, OR WASTEFUL, PLEASE CALL THE STATE COMPTROLLER’S 
TOLL-FREE HOTLINE:  1-800-232-5454. 

 
 The sign shall be on the form prescribed by the Comptroller of the Treasury.  The Grantor State 

Agency shall obtain copies of the sign from the Comptroller of the Treasury, and upon request 
from the Grantee, provide Grantee with any necessary signs. 

 
D.13. Public Notice.  All notices, informational pamphlets, press releases, research reports, signs, and 

similar public notices prepared and released by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall 
include the statement, “This project is funded under a grant contract with the State of 
Tennessee.”  All notices by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall be approved by the 
State. 

 
D.14. Licensure.  The Grantee,  its employees, and any approved subcontractor shall be licensed 

pursuant to all applicable federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations and 
shall upon request provide proof of all licenses. 

 
D.15. Records.  The Grantee and any approved subcontractor shall maintain documentation for all 

charges under this Grant Contract.  The books, records, and documents of the Grantee and any 
approved subcontractor, insofar as they relate to work performed or money received under this 
Grant Contract, shall be maintained in accordance with applicable Tennessee law.  In no case 
shall the records be maintained for a period of less than five (5) full years from the date of the 
final payment.  The Grantee’s records shall be subject to audit at any reasonable time and upon 
reasonable notice by the Grantor State Agency, the Comptroller of the Treasury, or their duly 
appointed representatives.   

8 



6-20-16 GG 

 

 The records shall be maintained in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
 (GASB) Accounting Standards or the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting 
 Standards Codification, as applicable, and any related AICPA Industry Audit and Accounting 
 guides.   

 In addition, documentation of grant applications, budgets, reports, awards, and expenditures will 
 be maintained in accordance with U.S. Office of Management and Budget’s Uniform 
 Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards. 

 Grant expenditures shall be made in accordance with local government purchasing policies and 
 procedures and purchasing procedures for local governments authorized under state law. 

 The Grantee shall also comply with any recordkeeping and reporting requirements prescribed by 
 the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury. 

 The Grantee shall establish a system of internal controls that utilize the COSO Internal Control - 
 Integrated Framework model as the basic foundation for the internal control system.  The Grantee 
 shall incorporate any additional Comptroller of the Treasury directives into its internal control 
 system. 

 Any other required records or reports which are not contemplated in the above standards shall 
 follow the format designated by the head of the Grantor State Agency, the Central Procurement 
 Office, or the Commissioner of Finance and Administration of the State of Tennessee. 

D.16. Monitoring.  The Grantee’s activities conducted and records maintained pursuant to this Grant 
Contract shall be subject to monitoring and evaluation by the State, the Comptroller of the 
Treasury, or their duly appointed representatives. 

 
D.17. Progress Reports.  The Grantee shall submit brief, periodic, progress reports to the State as 

requested. 
 
D.18. Annual and Final Reports.  The Grantee shall submit, within three (3) months of the conclusion of 

each year of the Term, an annual report. For grant contracts with a term of less than one (1) year, 
the Grantee shall submit a final report within three (3) months of the conclusion of the Term. For 
grant contracts with multiyear terms, the final report will take the place of the annual report for the 
final year of the Term. The Grantee shall submit annual and final reports to the Grantor State 
Agency and the Department of Finance and Administration (“F&A”).  Send electronic copies of 
annual and final reports to F&A at fa.audit@tn.gov.  At minimum, annual and final reports shall 
include: (a) the Grantee’s name; (b) the Grant Contract’s Edison identification number, Term, and 
total amount; (c) a narrative section that describes the program’s goals, outcomes, successes 
and setbacks, whether the Grantee used benchmarks or indicators to determine progress, and 
whether any proposed activities were not completed; and (d) other relevant details requested by 
the Grantor State Agency. Annual and final report documents to be completed by the Grantee 
shall appear on the Grantor State Agency’s website or as an attachment to the Grant Contract.       

 
D.19. Audit Report.  For purposes of this Section, pass-through entity means a non-federal entity that 
 provides a subaward to a subrecipient to carry out part of a federal program.   

The Grantee shall provide audited financial statements to the Tennessee Comptroller of the 
Treasury (“Comptroller”) if during the Grantee’s fiscal year, the Grantee: (1) expends seven 
hundred fifty thousand dollars ($750,000) or more in direct and indirect federal financial 
assistance and the State is a pass-through entity; (2) expends seven hundred fifty thousand 
dollars ($750,000) or more in state funds from the State; or (3) expends seven hundred fifty 
thousand dollars ($750,000) or more in federal financial assistance and state funds from the 
State, and the State is a pass-through entity.  At least ninety (90) days before the end of  its fiscal 
year, the Grantee shall complete Attachment 4 to notify the State whether or not Grantee is 
subject to an audit. The Grantee should submit only one, completed Notice of Audit Report 
document during the Grantee’s fiscal year. Any Grantee  that is subject to an audit and so 
indicates on Attachment 4 shall complete Attachment 5. If the Grantee is subject to an audit, 

9 



6-20-16 GG 

 

Grantee shall obtain the Comptroller’s approval before engaging a licensed, independent public 
accountant to perform the audit. The Grantee may contact the Comptroller for assistance 
identifying auditors. 

 All audits shall be performed in accordance with the Comptroller’s requirements, as posted on its 
 web site.  When a federal single audit is required, the audit shall  be performed in accordance 
 with U.S. Office of Management and Budget’s Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
 Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards.  

 A copy of the audit report shall be provided to the Comptroller by the licensed, independent public 
 accountant. Audit reports shall be made available to the  public. 

The audit contract between the Grantee and the Auditor shall be on a contract form prescribed by 
the Comptroller.  The Grantee shall be responsible for payment of fees for an audit prepared by a 
licensed, independent public accountant. Payment of the audit fees by the Grantee shall be 
subject to the provision relating to such fees contained within this Grant Contract. The Grantee 
shall be responsible for reimbursing the Comptroller for any costs of an audit prepared by the 
Comptroller. 

 
D.20. Procurement.  If other terms of this Grant Contract allow reimbursement for the cost of goods, 

materials, supplies, equipment, motor vehicles, or contracted services, procurements by the 
Grantee shall be competitive where practicable.  For any procurement for which reimbursement is 
paid under this Grant Contract, the Grantee shall document the competitive procurement method. 
In each instance where it is determined that use of a competitive procurement method is not 
practicable, supporting documentation shall include a written justification for the decision and for 
the use of a non-competitive procurement.  If the Grantee is a subrecipient, the Grantee shall 
comply with 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.318—200.326 when procuring property and services under a federal 
award. 
 
The Grantee shall obtain prior approval from the State before purchasing any equipment or motor 
vehicles under this Grant Contract. 

 
D.21. Strict Performance.  Failure by any party to this Grant Contract to insist in any one or more cases 

upon the strict performance of any of the terms, covenants, conditions, or provisions of this Grant 
Contract is not a waiver or relinquishment of any term, covenant, condition, or provision. No term 
or condition of this Grant Contract shall be held to be waived, modified, or deleted except by a 
written amendment signed by the parties. 

 
D.22. Independent Contractor.  The parties shall not act as employees, partners, joint venturers, or 

associates of one another in the performance of this Grant Contract.  The parties acknowledge 
that they are independent contracting entities and that nothing in this Grant Contract shall be 
construed to create a principal/agent relationship or to allow either to exercise control or direction 
over the manner or method by which the other transacts its business affairs or provides its usual 
services.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be deemed or construed to be the 
employees or agents of the other party for any purpose whatsoever.  
 

D.23. State Liability.  The State shall have no liability except as specifically provided in this Grant 
Contract. 

 
D.24. Force Majeure.  “Force Majeure Event” means fire, flood, earthquake, elements of nature or acts 

of God, wars, riots, civil disorders, rebellions or revolutions, acts of terrorism or any other similar 
cause beyond the reasonable control of the party except to the extent that the non-performing 
party is at fault in failing to prevent or causing the default or delay, and provided that the default 
or delay cannot reasonably be circumvented by the non-performing party through the use of 
alternate sources, workaround plans or other means.  A strike, lockout or labor dispute shall not 
excuse either party from its obligations under this Grant Contract.  Except as set forth in this 
Section, any failure or delay by a party in the performance of its obligations under this Grant 

10 



6-20-16 GG 

 

Contract arising from a Force Majeure Event is not a default under this Grant Contract or grounds 
for termination.  The non-performing party will be excused from performing those obligations 
directly affected by the Force Majeure Event, and only for as long as the Force Majeure Event 
continues, provided that the party continues to use diligent, good faith efforts to resume 
performance without delay.  The occurrence of a Force Majeure Event affecting Grantee’s 
representatives, suppliers, subcontractors, customers or business apart from this Grant Contract 
is not a Force Majeure Event under this Grant Contract.  Grantee will promptly notify the State of 
any delay caused by a Force Majeure Event (to be confirmed in a written notice to the State 
within one (1) day of the inception of the delay) that a Force Majeure Event has occurred, and will 
describe in reasonable detail the nature of the Force Majeure Event.  If any Force Majeure Event 
results in a delay in Grantee’s performance longer than forty-eight (48) hours, the State may, 
upon notice to Grantee: (a) cease payment of the fees until Grantee resumes performance of the 
affected obligations; or (b) immediately terminate this Grant Contract or any purchase order, in 
whole or in part, without further payment except for fees then due and payable.  Grantee will not 
increase its charges under this Grant Contract or charge the State any fees other than those 
provided for in this Grant Contract as the result of a Force Majeure Event. 

 
D.25. Tennessee Department of Revenue Registration.  The Grantee shall comply with all applicable 

registration requirements contained in Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 67-6-601 – 608.  Compliance with 
applicable registration requirements is a material requirement of this Grant Contract. 

 
D.26. Charges to Service Recipients Prohibited.  The Grantee shall not collect any amount in the form 

of fees or reimbursements from the recipients of any service provided pursuant to this Grant 
Contract. 

 
D.27. State Interest in Equipment or Motor Vehicles.  The Grantee shall take legal title to all equipment 

or motor vehicles  purchased totally or in part with funds provided under this Grant Contract, 
subject to the State’s equitable interest therein, to the extent of its pro rata share, based upon the 
State’s contribution to the purchase price.  The term "equipment" shall include any article of 
nonexpendable, tangible, personal property having a useful life of more than one year and an 
acquisition cost which equals or exceeds five thousand dollars ($5,000.00). The term “motor 
vehicle” shall include any article of tangible personal property that is required to be registered 
under the “Tennessee Motor Vehicle Title and Registration Law”, Tenn. Code Ann. Title 55, 
Chapters 1-6. 

 
 As authorized by the Tennessee Uniform Commercial Code, Tenn. Code Ann. Title 47, Chapter 9 

and the “Tennessee Motor Vehicle Title and Registration Law,” Tenn. Code Ann. Title 55, 
Chapters 1-6, the parties intend this Grant Contract to create a security interest in favor of the 
State in the equipment or motor vehicles acquired by the Grantee pursuant to the provisions of 
this Grant Contract.  A further intent of this Grant Contract is to acknowledge and continue the 
security interest in favor of the State in the equipment or motor vehicles acquired by the Grantee 
pursuant to the provisions of this program’s prior year Grant Contracts between the State and the 
Grantee. 
 
The Grantee grants the State a security interest in all equipment or motor vehicles acquired in 
whole or in part by the Grantee under this Grant Contract. This Grant Contract is intended to be a 
security agreement pursuant to the Uniform Commercial Code for any of the equipment or motor 
vehicles herein specified which, under applicable law, may be subject to a security interest 
pursuant to the Uniform Commercial Code, and the Grantee hereby grants the State a security 
interest in said equipment or motor vehicles.  The Grantee agrees that the State may file this 
Grant Contract or a reproduction thereof, in any appropriate office, as a financing statement for 
any of the equipment or motor vehicles herein specified.  Any reproduction of this or any other 
security agreement or financing statement shall be sufficient as a financing statement.  In 
addition, the Grantee agrees to execute and deliver to the State, upon the State's request, any 
financing statements, as well as extensions, renewals, and amendments thereof, and 
reproduction of this Grant Contract in such form as the State may require to perfect a security 

11 



6-20-16 GG 

 

interest with respect to said equipment or motor vehicles.  The Grantee shall pay all costs of filing 
such financing statements and any extensions, renewals, amendments and releases thereof, and 
shall pay all reasonable costs and expenses of any record searches for financing statements the 
State may reasonably require.  Without the prior written consent of the State, the Grantee shall 
not create or suffer to be created pursuant to the Uniform Commercial Code any other security 
interest in said equipment or motor vehicles, including replacements and additions thereto.  Upon 
the Grantee's breach of any covenant or agreement contained in this Grant Contract, including 
the covenants to pay when due all sums secured by this Grant Contract, the State shall have the 
remedies of a secured party under the Uniform Commercial Code and, at the State's option, may 
also invoke the remedies herein provided. 

 
The Grantee agrees to be responsible for the accountability, maintenance, management, and 
inventory of all property purchased totally or in part with funds provided under this Grant Contract.  
The Grantee shall maintain a perpetual inventory system for all equipment or motor vehicles 
purchased with funds provided under this Grant Contract and shall submit an inventory control 
report which must include, at a minimum, the following: 

 
a. Description of the equipment or motor vehicles; 

 b. Manufacturer’s serial number or other identification number, when applicable; 
 c. Consecutive inventory equipment or motor vehicles tag identification; 
 d. Acquisition date, cost, and check number; 
 e. Fund source, State Grant number, or other applicable fund source identification; 
 f. Percentage of state funds applied to the purchase; 
 g. Location within the Grantee’s operations where the equipment or motor vehicles is used; 
 h. Condition of the property or disposition date if Grantee no longer has possession; 
 i. Depreciation method, if applicable; and 
 j. Monthly depreciation amount, if applicable. 
 

The Grantee shall tag equipment or motor vehicles with an identification number which is cross 
referenced to the equipment or motor vehicle item on the inventory control report.  The Grantee 
shall inventory equipment or motor vehicles annually.  The Grantee must compare the results of 
the inventory with the inventory control report and investigate any differences.  The Grantee must 
then adjust the inventory control report to reflect the results of the physical inventory and 
subsequent investigation.  

 
The Grantee shall submit its inventory control report of all equipment or motor vehicles purchased 
with funding through this Grant Contract within thirty (30) days of its end date and in form and 
substance acceptable to the State.  This inventory control report shall contain, at a minimum, the 
requirements specified above for inventory control. The Grantee shall notify the State, in writing, 
of any equipment or motor vehicle loss describing the reasons for the loss.  Should the equipment 
or motor vehicles be destroyed, lost, or stolen, the Grantee shall be responsible to the State for 
the pro rata amount of the residual value at the time of loss based upon the State's original 
contribution to the purchase price. 

 
Upon termination of the Grant Contract, where a further contractual relationship is not entered 
into, or at another time during the term of the Grant Contract, the Grantee shall request written 
approval from the State for any proposed disposition of equipment or motor vehicles purchased 
with Grant funds.  All equipment or motor vehicles shall be disposed of in such a manner as the 
parties may agree from among alternatives approved by the Tennessee Department of General 
Services as appropriate and in accordance with any applicable federal laws or regulations. 

 
D.28. State and Federal Compliance.  The Grantee shall comply with all applicable state and federal 

laws and regulations in the performance of this Grant Contract. The U.S. Office of Management 
and Budget’s Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards is available here: http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-
idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl   

12 



6-20-16 GG 

 

 
D.29. Governing Law.  This Grant Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 

laws of the State of Tennessee.  The Grantee agrees that it will be subject to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Tennessee in actions that may arise under this Grant 
Contract.  The Grantee acknowledges and agrees that any rights or claims against the State of 
Tennessee or its employees hereunder, and any remedies arising there from, shall be subject to 
and limited to those rights and remedies, if any, available under Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 9-8-101 
through 9-8-407. 

 
D.30. Completeness.  This Grant Contract is complete and contains the entire understanding between 

the parties relating to the subject matter contained herein, including all the terms and conditions 
agreed to by the parties.  This Grant Contract supersedes any and all prior understandings, 
representations, negotiations, or agreements between the parties, whether written or oral. 

 
D.31. Severability.  If any terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are held to be invalid or 

unenforceable as a matter of law, the other terms and conditions shall not be affected and shall 
remain in full force and effect.  To this end, the terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are 
declared severable. 

 
D.32. Headings.  Section headings are for reference purposes only and shall not be construed as part 

of this Grant Contract. 
 
D.33. Prevailing Wage Rates. All State contracts for highway construction projects that are for the 

purpose of building, rebuilding, locating, relocating or repairing any streets, highways or bridges 
require compliance with the prevailing wage laws  provided in Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 12-4-401--
415.  

 
E. SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  
 
E.1. Conflicting Terms and Conditions.  Should any of these special terms and conditions conflict with 

any other terms and conditions of this Grant Contract, the special terms and conditions shall be 
subordinate to the Grant Contract’s other terms and conditions. 

 
E.2. Debarment and Suspension.  The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it, 

its current and future principals, its current and future subcontractors and their principals: 
 

a. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or 
voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any federal or state department or 
agency; 

 
b. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract been convicted of, 

or had a civil judgment rendered against them from commission of fraud, or a criminal 
offence in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (federal, 
state, or local) transaction or grant under a public transaction; violation of federal or state 
antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification, or 
destruction of records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property; 

 
c. are not presently indicted or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity 

(federal, state, or local) with commission of any of the offenses detailed in section b. of 
this certification;  and 

 
d. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract had one or more 

public transactions (federal, state, or local) terminated for cause or default. 
 

 The Grantee shall provide immediate written notice to the State if at any time it learns that there 
was an earlier failure to disclose information or that due to changed circumstances, its principals 

13 



6-20-16 GG 

 

or the principals of its subcontractors are excluded, disqualified, or presently fall under any of the 
prohibitions of sections a-d.  

 
E.3. Compliance With Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964.  The Grantee agrees to comply with the 

provisions contained in Title VI of the 1964 Civil Rights Act (42 U.S.C. 2000d), and any federal 
regulations specific to the funding of this grant.  The Grantee further agrees to complete and 
return a self-compliance report as provided by the Grantor. 

 
E.4.    Confidentiality of Records.  Strict standards of confidentiality of records and information shall be 

maintained in accordance with applicable state and federal law.  All material and information, 
regardless of form, medium or method of communication, provided to the Grantee by the State or 
acquired by the Grantee on behalf of the State that is regarded as confidential under state or 
federal law shall be regarded as “Confidential Information.”  Nothing in this Section shall permit 
Grantee to disclose any Confidential Information, regardless of whether it has been disclosed or 
made available to the Grantee due to intentional or negligent actions or inactions of agents of the 
State or third parties.  Confidential Information shall not be disclosed except as required or 
permitted under state or federal law.  Grantee shall take all necessary steps to safeguard the 
confidentiality of such material or information in conformance with applicable state and federal 
law.    

              
             The obligations set forth in this Section shall survive the termination of this Grant Contract. 
 
 E.5. The Grantee shall provide a drug-free workplace pursuant to the “Drug-Free Workplace Act,” 41 

U.S.C. §§ 8101 through 8106, and its accompanying regulations. 
 
 E.6. Environmental Tobacco Smoke.  Pursuant to the provisions of the federal “Pro-Children Act of 

1994” and the “Children’s Act for Clean Indoor Air of 1995,” Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 39-17-1601 
through 1606, the Grantee shall prohibit smoking of tobacco products within any indoor premises 
in which services are provided to individuals under the age of eighteen (18) years.  The Grantee 
shall post “no smoking” signs in appropriate, permanent sites within such premises.  This 
prohibition shall be applicable during all hours, not just the hours in which children are present.  
Violators of the prohibition may be subject to civil penalties and fines.  This prohibition shall apply 
to and be made part of any subcontract related to this Grant Contract. 

 
  E.7. Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA).  This Grant requires the Grantee 

to provide supplies and/or services that are funded in whole or in part by federal funds that are 
subject to FFATA. The Grantee is responsible for ensuring that all applicable requirements, 
including but not limited to those set forth herein, of FFATA are met and that the Grantee 
provides information to the State as required.   

 
The Grantee shall comply with the following: 

 
a. Reporting of Total Compensation of the Grantee’s Executives.  

 
(1) The Grantee shall report the names and total compensation of each of its five 

most highly compensated executives for the Grantee’s preceding completed 
fiscal year, if in the Grantee’s preceding fiscal year it received: 
 
i. 80 percent or more of the Grantee’s annual gross revenues from Federal 

procurement contracts and Federal financial assistance subject to the 
Transparency Act, as defined at 2 CFR 170.320 (and sub awards); and  

ii. $25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from Federal 
procurement contracts (and subcontracts), and Federal financial 
assistance subject to the Transparency Act (and sub awards); and 

iii. The public does not have access to information about the compensation 
of the executives through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 

14 



6-20-16 GG 

 

15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a), 78o(d)) 
or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. (To determine if 
the public has access to the compensation information, see the U.S. 
Security and Exchange Commission total compensation filings 
at http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm.). 

 
Executive means officers, managing partners, or any other employees in 
management positions. 
 

(2) Total compensation means the cash and noncash dollar value earned by the 
executive during the Grantee’s preceding fiscal year and includes the following 
(for more information see 17 CFR 229.402(c)(2)):  

 
i. Salary and bonus.  
ii. Awards of stock, stock options, and stock appreciation rights. Use the 

dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with 
respect to the fiscal year in accordance with the Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004) (FAS 123R), Shared 
Based Payments.  

iii. Earnings for services under non-equity incentive plans. This does not 
include group life, health, hospitalization or medical reimbursement plans 
that do not discriminate in favor of executives, and are available 
generally to all salaried employees.  

iv. Change in pension value. This is the change in present value of defined 
benefit and actuarial pension plans.  

v. Above-market earnings on deferred compensation which is not tax 
qualified.  

vi. Other compensation, if the aggregate value of all such other 
compensation (e.g. severance, termination payments, value of life 
insurance paid on behalf of the employee, perquisites or property) for the 
executive exceeds $10,000. 

 
b. The Grantee must report executive total compensation described above to the State by 

the end of the month during which this Grant is awarded.   
 
c. If this Grant is amended to extend its term, the Grantee must submit an executive total 

compensation report to the State by the end of the month in which the amendment to this 
Grant becomes effective. 

 
d. The Grantee will obtain a Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) number and 

maintain its DUNS number for the term of this Grant.  More information about obtaining a 
DUNS Number can be found at:  http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform/. 

 
 The Grantee’s failure to comply with the above requirements is a material breach of this Grant for 

which the State may terminate this Grant for cause.  The State will not be obligated to pay any 
outstanding invoice received from the Grantee unless and until the Grantee is in full compliance 
with the above requirements. 

 
E.8. Compliance With National Incident Management System (NIMS). The Grantee will be in 

compliance with NIMS Standards established by the U.S. Department of Homeland Security and 
the Federal Emergency Management Agency authorized by Homeland Security Presidential 
Directive 08 (HSPD-08).  The Grantee agrees that it has met NIMS compliance standards.  The 
Grantee further agrees to complete within the announced suspense date the NIMS 
Implementation yearly survey. 

 
 

15 



6-20-16 GG 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 

HAMILTON COUNTY: 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

JIM COPPINGER, COUNTY MAYOR 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY, TENNESSEE EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY: 

 

MG TERRY M. HASTON, THE ADJUTANT GENERAL,  
MILITARY DEPARTMENT 
 
 
 

DATE 

 
 

I certify that this entity meets Civil 
Rights Title VI compliance. 
 

  
Signature 

  
Date 
Reviewed by Dept. of Military Civil Rights Title VI Officer       

16 



6-20-16 GG 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

GRANT BUDGET 
GRANTEE NAME:  HAMILTON COUNTY 
EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE GRANT 2016 

The Grant Budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expenses incurred during the following 
applicable period:  

 BEGIN:   10/01/2015 END:  06/30/2017 

POLICY 
03 Object 
 Line-item 
Reference 

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 1 GRANT CONTRACT GRANTEE MATCH TOTAL PROJECT 

1. 2 Salaries, Benefits & Taxes 0.00 0.00 0.00 

4, 15 Professional Fee, Grant & Award 2 150,500.00 150,500.00  301,000.00 

5, 6, 7, 8, 
9, 10 

Supplies, Telephone, Postage & Shipping, 
Occupancy, Equipment Rental & Maintenance, 
Printing & Publications 0.00 0.00 0.00 

11. 12 Travel, Conferences & Meetings 0.00 0.00 0.00 

13 Interest 2 0.00 0.00 0.00 

14 Insurance 0.00 0.00 0.00 

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals 0.00 0.00 0.00 

17 Depreciation 2 0.00 0.00 0.00 

18 Other Non-Personnel 2 0.00 0.00 0.00 

20 Capital Purchase 2 0.00 0.00 0.00 

22 Indirect Cost  0.00 0.00 0.00 

24 In-Kind Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 

n/a Grantee Match Requirement (for any amount of 
the required Grantee Match that is not 
specifically delineated by budget line-items 
above) 0.00 0.00 0.00 

25 GRAND TOTAL 150,500.00 150,500.00  301,000.00 

1  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform 
Reporting Requirements and Cost Allocation Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A. 
(posted on the Internet at:  http://www.state.tn.us/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf). 

2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded. 
3  A Grantee Match Requirement is detailed by this Grant Budget, and the maximum total amount reimbursable by the State 

pursuant to this Grant Contract, as detailed by the “Grant Contract” column above, shall be reduced by the amount of any 
Grantee failure to meet the Match Requirement. 

 
 



6-20-16 GG 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL: 
 

PROFESSIONAL FEE, GRANT & AWARD AMOUNT 

FUNDING OF TRAINING, EXERCISES, PLANNING, MANAGEMENT & ADMINISTRATION AND 
EQUIPMENT PURCHASES ALLOWABLE UNDER THE FFY 2016 EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 
PERFORMANCE GRANT (EMPG) PROGRAM 150,500.00 

TOTAL 150,500.00 

 

 
 



kgladney
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2



HAMILTON

kgladney
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2



William S. Worth 04/28/16

HAMILTON

kgladney
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2



 

ATTACHMENT 3 
 
 

 
Federal Award Identification Worksheet 

 
Subrecipient’s name (must match registered 
name in DUNS) 

HAMILTON COUNTY 

Subrecipient’s DUNS number 806990040 
Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN) EMA-2016-EP-00004 
Federal award date 07/13/2016 
CFDA number and name 97.042 
Grant contract’s begin date 10/01/2015 
Grant contract’s end date 06/30/2017 
Amount of federal funds obligated by this grant 
contract 

150,500.00 

Total amount of federal funds obligated to the 
subrecipient 

Consolidated data not available 

Total amount of the federal award to the pass-
through entity (Grantor State Agency) 

6,886,333.00 

Name of federal awarding agency U.S. Department of Homeland Security 
Name and contact information for the federal 
awarding official 
 
 
 
 

Sharrie Abrams, Assistance Officer 
FEMA Region IV 
3003 Chamblee Tucker Road 
Atlanta, GA 30341 

Is the federal award for research and 
development? 

NO 

Indirect cost rate for the federal award (See 2 
C.F.R. §200.331 for information on type of 
indirect cost rate)  

N/A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 

ATTACHMENT 4 
 

 
Notice of Audit Report 

 
Check one of the two boxes below and complete the remainder of this document as 
instructed. Send completed documents as a PDF file to cpo.auditnotice@tn.gov.  The 
Grantee should submit only one, completed “Notice of Audit Report” document 
to the State ninety (90) days prior to the Grantee’s fiscal year. 
 
 Hamilton County is subject to an audit for fiscal year 2017. 
 
 Hamilton County is not subject to an audit for fiscal year 2017. 
 
Grantee’s Edison Vendor ID Number: 4208 
 
Grantee’s fiscal year end: June 30th  
 
 
Any Grantee that is subject to an audit must complete the information below. 
 
 

Type of funds expended Estimated amount of funds expended 
by end of Grantee’s fiscal year 

Federal pass-through funds 
a. Funds passed through the State of               
Tennessee 
b. Funds passed through any other 
entity 

 
a. 
 
b. 

Funds received directly from the federal 
government 

 

Non-federal funds received directly from 
the State of Tennessee 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 

ATTACHMENT 5 
 

Parent Child Information 
 

The Grantee should complete this form and submit it with the Grant Contract. The Grantee should 
submit only one, completed “Parent Child Information” document to the State during the 
Grantee’s fiscal year.  
 
“Parent” means an entity whose IRS filing contains the information of at least one other entity. 
 
“Child” means an entity whose information is contained in another entity’s IRS filing. 
 
Grantee’s Edison Vendor ID number: 4208 
 
Is Hamilton County a parent?     Yes  No 
 
If yes, provide the name and Edison Vendor ID number, if applicable, of any child entities.  
 
Is Hamilton County a child?      Yes  No  
 
If yes, complete the fields below. 
 
Parent entity’s name: ___________________________________________________________ 
 
Parent entity’s tax identification number: ____________________________________________ 
 
Note: If the parent entity’s tax identification number is a social security number, this form 
must be submitted via US mail to: 

 
Central Procurement Office, Grants Program Manager 

3rd Floor, WRS Tennessee Tower 
312 Rosa L Parks Avenue 

Nashville, TN 37243 
Parent entity’s contact information 
  
 Name of primary contact person: ____________________________________________ 
  
 Address: _______________________________________________________________ 
  
 Phone number: _________________________________________________________ 
  
 Email address: __________________________________________________________ 
 
Parent entity’s Edison Vendor ID number, if applicable: ________________________________  

 
 



No. 1116-33 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO WAIVE THE PURCHASING RULES AND AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY 
MAYOR TO TRANSFER A SURPLUS VEHICLE TO THE FORGOTTEN CHILD FUND. 
 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Purchasing Rules and Regulations require the auction or 

marketing of county-owned surplus property; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  the Hamilton County Purchasing Rules and Regulations have no provisions for 

donating surplus county property to another governmental or non profit agency, that 
authority residing with the Hamilton County Commission; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  this vehicle, an 1987 International M-60 delivery truck, was originally donated to the 

County for use as a HazMat vehicle by McKee Foods, having been utilized by them for 
over 10 years; and, 

 
WHEREAS,   the Forgotten Child Fund, a 501 (c) 3 organization has a need for this vehicle in order 

to pick up and deliver toys and other supplies for their organization; and,  
 
WHEREAS,  the Forgotten Child Fund has examined the vehicle and feel it would be beneficial to 

their efforts, and fully understands that the vehicle  is “as is’ and comes with no 
promises, guarantees,  or warranties implied, especially as it relates to include 
longevity and/or  road worthiness; and, 

 
WHEREAS, this vehicle is no longer viable for emergency response and thus has been taken out of 

service by Emergency Services and there is a need by the Forgotten Child Fund. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the Board of County Commissioners does hereby waive the purchasing rules and donate the 
herein described surplus property to the Forgotten Child Fund. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 1116-34 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF 
HAMILTON COUNTY TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, 
OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 
DEPARTMENT TO SIGN AN AMENDMENT TO THE PUBLIC HEALTH EMERGENCY 
PREPAREDNESS GRANT  WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH FOR 
THE PROVISION OF EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS ACTIVITIES  TO INCREASE IT 
FROM $528,100.00 TO $541,500.00 FOR THE 12 MONTH TIME PERIOD BEGINNING 
JULY 1, 2016 – JUNE 30, 2017 AND TO AMEND THE HOMELAND SECURITY 
BUDGET FOR FY 2017 BY ADDING $13,400.00 TO THE REVENUE AND 
EXPENDITURE BUDGET.  
 
WHEREAS, the overall objective of the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department 

is to protect the public’s health, and 
 
WHEREAS,   preparedness activities are necessary to achieve this objective; and,  
 
 
WHEREAS, these activities are for the protection and well-being of the citizens of Hamilton 

County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached amendment for increasing 
$528,100.00 to $541,500.00 in State funds for the purpose of providing emergency 
preparedness activities for the time period of July 1, 2016 – June 30, 2017 and to amend the 
FY 2017 revenue and expenditure budget of the Homeland Security Budget by adding 
$13,400.00. 
 
  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 





























No. 1116-35 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PROPOSAL FROM QUATRED, LLC, FOR THE PURCHASE 
OF SOFTWARE AND SERVICES COMPATIBLE WITH THE ONESOLUTION FINANCIAL 
SYSTEM SOFTWARE FOR MOBILE COMPUTING, BARCODING, AND RFID FIXED ASSETS 
INTEGRATION FOR THE HAMILTON COUNTY FINANCE DEPARTMENT AMOUNTING TO 
$36,988.68, AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 
NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, a quotation was received from Quatred, LLC, for software and services which are 

compatible with ONESolution financial system software for mobile computing, 
barcoding and RFID fixed assets integration for Hamilton County Finance 
Department; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Quatred, LLC, is considered a sole source for this service; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the quotation from Quatred, LLC, amounting to $36,988.68 was considered 

reasonable; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the quotation from Quatred, LLC, for the purchase of software and services which are compatible 
with ONESolution financial system software for mobile computing, barcoding and RFID fixed assets 
integration for the Hamilton County Finance Department is hereby accepted, and authorizing the 
County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 

















No. 1116-36 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF CARRIAGE NISSAN FOR MODEL YEAR 
(2017) CONTRACT UNIT PRICING FOR MID-SIZE FLEET STAFF SEDANS FOR 
HAMILTON COUNTY AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 
CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
   
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for contract unit pricing 

for model year (2017) mid-size fleet staff sedans; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Carriage Nissan amounting to $17,831.00 was considered to be the 

lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, this contract pricing for fleet vehicles will expedite the ordering of County mid-

size fleet staff sedans; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Carriage Nissan for contract unit pricing for mid-size fleet staff sedans for 
Hamilton County is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and 
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contacts necessary to implement this resolution.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 





Bid# 0916-041:  Mid-Size Fleet Staff Sedans 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

SPECIFICATIONS 

Hamilton County, Tennessee, hereinafter referred to as “County”, is soliciting bids for contract unit 
pricing for new and unused, current (2017) model year, mid-size staff sedans.  Vehicles shall be 
equipped with all standard manufacturers’ equipment for the model bid.  Any deviations from the 
specifications shall be provided in detail.  The vehicles shall meet or exceed the attached specifications. 

BID SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 

The bidder must complete and deliver an original and one (1) hard copy of its bid response document in 
a sealed envelope before 10:30 a.m. (ET) on October 10, 2016, to the Hamilton County Purchasing 
Director at the address specified below. 

The outside of the envelope/package containing the bid should be clearly marked with the following 
statement “Bid # 0916-041: Mid-size Fleet Staff Sedans”.  Any sealed envelope(s) enclosed within this 
envelope / package should also be clearly marked with the same label. 
 

DELIVERY ADDRESS 

NOTE: Please note that receipt of the bid by the County mail system does not constitute receipt of a bid by 

the Purchasing Department.  All proposals/bids must be received in the Purchasing Department by the 

specified deadline. 

Gail B. Roppo, Director of Purchasing 
Bid # 0916-041:  Mid-size Fleet Staff Sedans {insert your company name here} 
Hamilton County Purchasing Department 
455 N. Highland Park Avenue 
Chattanooga, TN   37404 

 

COMPLETION OF THE ATTACHED BID PRICING FORM   

Submit your bid as specified below on the attached Detailed Bid Specifications and Pricing Form.  

Indicate the extent to which your vehicle meets each specification included.  All prices shall be displayed 

on a unit price basis. 

 

COMPLETION OF THE ATTACHED BID SUBMISSION FORMS  

The attached Authorization to Bind and Certificate of Compliance forms must be signed and submitted 

as a part of your bid submission package. 

CONTACTS 

Questions concerning bid procedures should be directed to: 

Janie Burley, Senior Buyer 

Email:  JanieB@HamiltonTN.gov  

Phone:  (423)209-6350 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

Hamilton County General Bid Terms and Conditions 

 

mailto:JanieB@HamiltonTN.gov


Bid# 0916-041:  Mid-Size Fleet Staff Sedans 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

DETAILED BID SPECIFICATIONS AND PRICING FORM – 2017 MID-SIZE FLEET STAFF SEDANS 
 

Items found in this section set forth the County’s minimum expectations for new and unused, current 

year model Mid-Size Fleet Staff Sedans sought through this bid document.  Each item in each of the 

following categories must be completed.  Please respond as instructed.  Please indicate to what extent 

your proposed vehicle meets each of the specifications listed below by placing an “X” in either the 

“MEETS OR EXCEEDS” or “DOES NOT MEET” column.  If your equipment does not meet any specification, 

please explain using the comments column.  All bids are F.O.B. Chattanooga, Tennessee.  Note that fuel 

economy and manufacturer’s warranty will be considered as a factor in the award of the bid. 

  

Note:  If quoting more than one make/model of vehicle, a separate vendor/manufacturers’ specification 

sheet must be provided for each vehicle being quoted.  All quotes may be returned in one sealed bid 

envelope.   

 

MID-SIZE STAFF SEDAN 
SPECIFICATIONS –MUST MEET OR EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

Air Bags: Driver side & passenger front and 
side impact air bags with passive restraint 
system. 

   

Air Conditioning:  Factory installed required 
   

Antifreeze:  Protection to a minimum of -30 
degrees F. 

   

Brakes:  4-wheel antilock, 4-wheel disc brakes 
   

Carpet:  Floor w/factory floor mats 
   

Color: To be determined at time of order 
   

Cruise Control:  Required 
   

Driver’s Seat:  Height adjustable driver’s seat  
– will consider manual or power options 
(please specify type in comments) 

   

Drivers Power Seat Option:  Price separately 
as option if not standard equipment and 
available as an option 

   

Drive Train:  Front Wheel Drive four (4) door 
sedan 

   

Engine Size:  1.5 liter or greater, 4 cylinder 
   

EPA Passenger Volume:   100.0 Cu. Ft. 
Minimum 

   

Fuel Efficiency:  EPA fuel economy rating of 22 
mpg (city) 34 (highway) minimum 

   

Fuel Type:  Gasoline 
   



Bid# 0916-041:  Mid-Size Fleet Staff Sedans 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

MID-SIZE STAFF SEDAN 
SPECIFICATIONS –MUST MEET OR EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

Gasoline:  Vehicle to be delivered with a 
minimum of ½ tank 

   

Mirrors:  Dual Outside Mirrors, power-
adjustable 

   

Mirrors:  Rear view mirror (day/night) 
   

Power Windows and Door Locks:  Front and 
rear required 

   

Rear Window Defogger:  Required 
   

Remote Keyless Entry:  Remote Keyless Entry 
(2 keys with 2 each key fob transmitters) or 
digital pad power door locks 

   

Sound System:  Audio system with AM/FM/ 
and CD with clock (factory installed) 

   

Steering:  Power rack-pinion steering 
   

Spare Tire:  Space saver steel rim internal 
spare wheel 

   

Tires:  All Season Radial tires 
   

Traction Control:  Electronic stability/traction 
control 

   

Transmission:  5 or 6 speed automatic 
transmission 

   

Trunk Release:  Trunk emergency release 
handle; Remote 

   

Wheelbase:  107 inches minimum 
   

Windshield Wipers:  Variable front 
intermittent 

   

Delivery:  Delivery included in bid price.  F.O.B. 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 

   

Include Manufacturer’s Warranty Information 
with bid (Basic, Power train, etc.) 

   

Include Manufacturer’s Vehicle Spec  Sheet 
with bid 

   

Include Terms for Payment with bid 
   

Fuel Efficiency – Provide 
city/highway/combined fuel mileage with bid 
below 

   

 

  



Bid# 0916-041:  Mid-Size Fleet Staff Sedans 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

1. PRICING:  Mid-Size Fleet Sedan 

 

Vehicle Purchase Estimate:  Approximately Eight (8) staff fleet mid-size sedans 

 

All prices shall be displayed on a unit price basis.   Use additional spaces if needed for additional 

models.   

 

Note:  Please clearly explain whether the power seat is available as an option.  If the power seat is 

only available in a higher option package, please price both models. 

 

YEAR/MAKE/MODEL 
BASE PRICE PER 

VEHICLE 

COST WITH POWER 
SEAT AS OPTION 
 (If available as 

separate option) 

FUEL ECONOMY - 
CITY/HIGHWAY/ 

COMBINED 

DELIVERY 
TIME 

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

 

2. Please provide information as to the known final order cut-off dates associated with the 

make/model you are bidding. 

Final Order Cut-off Date: _________________________________________ 

 

3. Please submit the following additional documents with your bid: 

 Interior and exterior colors available on your Mid-size Fleet Staff Sedans  

 Manufacturer’s vehicle detailed specification sheet 

 Manufacturer’s warranty detailed information 

 Signed Authorization to Bind and Certificate of Compliance forms (attached) 

 

4. Vehicle Delivery Instructions 

 All vehicle purchase/title documents must be delivered to the following prior to vehicle delivery: 

Janie Burley, Purchasing Department 

455 N. Highland Park Avenue 

Chattanooga, TN  37404 

 

 Vehicles must be delivered to the locations as specified on each Purchase Order. 

 

 



Bid# 0916-041:  Mid-Size Fleet Staff Sedans 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

5 | P a g e  
 

 

BID SUBMITTED BY: 

Company Name: __________________________________________________________ 

Contact Name:  __________________________________________________________ 

Contact Title:  __________________________________________________________ 

Contact Phone:  __________________________________________________________ 

 

  



Bid# 0916-041:  Mid-Size Fleet Staff Sedans 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

6 | P a g e  
 

AUTHORIZATION TO BIND 

By signing this proposal, I certify and acknowledge that the information contained in this document is 

true and correct, containing NO misrepresentations. The information is NOT tainted by any collusion.  I 

certify and acknowledge that I have reviewed and approved the release of this proposal for Hamilton 

County’s consideration.  Further, I am authorized to bind my company to the responses and pricing in 

these proposal/bid documents, and any subsequent negotiations, as well as execute the actual Contract 

documents, if selected.   

 
 
  
___________________________________  
Authorized Signature (Officer of the Company) 
 
 

___________________________________  
Name of Authorized Signer (Printed or Typed) 

 
 
___________________________________  
Title of Authorized Signer 
 
 
  

___________________________________  
Firm Name 
 
  

___________________________________  
Taxpayer Identification Number  

 
 
___________________________________ 
Firm Address, City and Zip Code  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Telephone Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Fax Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Email Address 
 
 
_______________________________________________   
Date  

 

 

 



Bid# 0916-041:  Mid-Size Fleet Staff Sedans 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 
 

7 | P a g e  
 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

By indication of the authorized signature below, the Proposer/Bidder does hereby make certification 

and assurance, under penalty of perjury, of the Proposer’s/Bidder’s compliance with all provisions of 

this bid/proposal and the following items: 

1. the laws of the State of Tennessee and Hamilton County; 

2. the Help America Vote Act; 

3. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; 

4. the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued thereunder by the 
federal government; 

5. the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued thereunder by the 
federal government; 

6. that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder/proposer is not on the list 
created pursuant to T.C.A. §12-12-106 regarding the Iran Divestment Act; 

7. Hamilton County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise guidelines; 

8. the Drug Free Workplace statement; 

9. the condition that the submitted proposal/bid was independently arrived at, without 
collusion, under penalty of perjury; and 

10. the condition that no amount shall be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of 
Hamilton County as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, 
agent, employee, subcontractor, or consultant to the Proposer/Bidder in connection with 
the procurement under this RFP/Bid. 

 

Company Name:   _________________________________________ 

 Authorized Signature:  _________________________________________    

 Date:    _____________________________________ 

 

 

 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

 

 
 
 

1. ACCEPTANCE:  All terms and conditions in this invitation are deemed to be accepted by the bidder and 
incorporated in the bid, except the provision(s) which are expressly excluded by the bid specifications. 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: Bidders are cautioned that any statement made by any individual or employee of 
Hamilton County that materially changes any portion of the bid document, either before or after the issuance of 
the bid documents, shall not be relied upon unless subsequently ratified by a formal written amendment to the 
bid document. 

3. ALTERATION OR AMENDMENTS:  No alterations, amendment, changes, modifications or additions to any 
contract resulting from this bid shall be binding on Hamilton County without the prior written approval of the 
County. 

4. ALTERNATE BIDS:  Alternate bids (defined as bids that do not comply with the bid terms, conditions, and 
specifications) are not acceptable and will be rejected unless authorized by the invitation to bid.  Vendors may 
submit more than one bid providing that all such bids comply with bid terms, conditions and specifications. 

5. ASSIGNMENT:  Contractors shall not assign or sub-contract this agreement, its obligations or rights hereunder 
to any party, company, partnership, incorporation or person without the prior written consent of Hamilton 
County. 

6. AUTHORIZATION TO BIND:  All bids shall be signed by an authorized officer or employee of the bidder. 

7. AWARD:  Award will be made to the most responsive, responsible bidder(s) meeting specifications, who 
presents the product of service that is in the best interest of Hamilton County. Hamilton County reserves the 
right: (1) to award bids received on the basis of individual items, or groups of items, or on the entire list of items; 
(2) to reject any or all bids, or any part thereof; (3) to waive any informality in the bids; and (4) to accept the bid 
that is considered lowest and best. 

8. BID AMENDMENT: If it becomes evident that an invitation must be amended, a formal written amendment will 
be issued to all known Bidders. If necessary, a new due date will be established. 

9. BID COPIES:  Hamilton County requires that bids be submitted in duplicate, unless otherwise stated in the bid 
package. 

10. BID DELIVERY:  Hamilton County requires that all bids be submitted and time/date-stamped by the date and 
before the time specified in the bid documents to be considered, regardless of method of delivery.  The time 
clock in the Purchasing Department shall be the official record of the time. The County is not responsible for any 
technical difficulties of any vendor in the delivery of its bid. No late bids will be accepted, opened or returned. 

11. BID FORMS:   Vendors must complete bid forms contained in the bid package. Failure to fully complete the bid 
forms may result in rejection of the bid. 

All information shall be entered in ink or typed/computer generated. Mistakes may be crossed out and 
corrections inserted before submission of your bid. Corrections shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the 
bid. Corrections and/or modifications received after the closing time specified will not be accepted. 

12. BID PREPARATION: Prospective bidders are solely responsible for their own expenses in BID preparation and 
subsequent negotiations with Hamilton County, if any. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE  
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PURCHASES 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

13. BID PRICING:  Any bid, and its associated pricing, shall remain valid for at least three (3) months after the bid 
due date, unless otherwise indicated in the bid specifications. Unit price must be shown for all products or 
services.  In case of error in extension, unit price will govern. Prices will be considered as net, if no cash discount 
is shown. 

14. BID SUBMISSION AND TRANSMISSION:  Bid must be submitted in a sealed envelope with the Bid 
Number/Name, the closing date and time, as well as your company name provided on the envelope. If your 
response envelope is enclosed in another envelope/package for delivery, the latter should also be clearly labeled 
with the same identifying information. 

All bids are to be F.O.B. Hamilton County, TN. All responses to this invitation become the property of Hamilton 
County. 

Bids/Proposals submitted via e-mail or facsimile machine are unacceptable. 

15. BRAND NAMES:  Brand names and numbers, when used, are for reference to indicate the character or quality 
desired. Equal items will be considered, provided they are clearly identified by manufacturer, part number, 
diagrams, brochures and other related material, unless stated otherwise in the bid specifications. When brand, 
number, or level of quality is not stated by the bidder, it is understood the offer is exactly as specified. 

16. CODE OF ETHICS:  Hamilton County, through its Purchasing Rules, has adopted the National Institute of 
Government Purchasing (NIGP) as well as the Hamilton County Government Code of Ethics.   All suppliers are 
expected to adhere to business ethics and professional behaviors as outlined in these documents. 

17. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS:   Companies submitting bids must agree to observe and comply with all federal, 
state, and local laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations, including but not limited to Title VI of the Federal 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, in any manner affecting the provision of goods and/or services, and all instructions, 
prohibitive orders issued, and shall obtain all necessary permits. 

18. DECLARATIVE STATEMENT:  Any statement or word (e.g., must, shall, will) are declarative statements and the 
vendor must comply with the conditions.  Failure to comply with any such statement may result in their bid 
being deemed non-responsive and disqualified. 

19. DEFAULT: In case of default by the bidder, the County may procure the articles or services from other sources 
and may deduct from any monies due, or that may thereafter become due to the vendor, the difference 
between the price named in the contract or purchase order and actual cost thereof to the County. Prices paid 
by the County shall be considered the prevailing market price at the time such purchase is made. Periods of 
performance may be extended if the facts as to the cause of delay justify such extension in the opinion of the 
Purchasing Director. 

20. DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS:   Time of delivery shall be stated as the number of calendar days following receipt of 
the order by the vendor to receipt of the goods or services by the County. Note:  Time of delivery may be a 
consideration in the award. 

21. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS PROGRAM:   Hamilton County has established a Disadvantaged Business Program, 
which has the responsibility of increasing opportunity for small, minority and women owned businesses.  This is 
being accomplished through community education programs, policy edification, active recruitment of interested 
businesses and process re-engineering. 

Hamilton County is committed to ensuring full and equitable participation for all disadvantaged businesses. 
Hamilton County welcomes submittals from those disadvantaged businesses that have an interest in providing 
goods and/or services to Hamilton County. In addition, Hamilton County strongly encourages the inclusion of 
disadvantaged businesses by non-disadvantaged contractors who may wish to partner or subcontract with 
disadvantaged businesses in order to accomplish the successful delivery of goods and/or services. 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

If you would like additional information about our Disadvantaged Business Program please contact: 

Ken Jordan, EEO Officer/DBE Liaison 
Telephone: 423.209.6146 
Fax: 423.209.6145 
Email: DBE@HamiltonTN.gov 

 

22. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE PROGRAM FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES:  Law prohibits state or local governments 
from contracting for construction services with any private entity having five or more employees who has not 
furnished a written affidavit by its principal officer at the time of the bid or contract stating that the contractor is 
in compliance with the provisions of this act. Companies, other than construction services, are also encouraged 
to have and maintain drug-free workplace policies. 

23. EXCEPTIONS:   Bidders taking exceptions to any part or section of this invitation shall indicate such exceptions 
on the bid form.  Failure to indicate any exception will be interpreted as the bidder’s intent to comply with 
and/or supply the requirements as written in the bid document and these General Terms and Conditions. 

24. INDEMNIFICATIONS/HOLD HARMLESS:  The vendor shall hold the County, its officers, agents, servants, and 
employees, harmless from liability of any nature or kind because of use of any copyrighted, or un-copyrighted 
composition, secret process, patented or unpatented invention, articles or appliances furnished or used under 
this bid, and agrees to defend, at his own expense, any and all actions brought against the County or himself 
because of the unauthorized use of such articles. 

25. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT.  By submission of a bid, each bidder and each person signing on behalf of any bidder 
certifies, and in the case of a joint bid each party thereto certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of 
perjury, that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder is not on the list created pursuant to T.C.A. 
§12-12-106. 

26. NEW EQUIPMENT:  The bidder shall guarantee that the units submitted for this bid shall be new, and the latest 
and most improved model of current production, and shall be first quality as to workmanship and materials used 
in said units. All modifications shall be made at the factory. Demonstrators shall not be acceptable.  NOTE: 
When the bid is for services, this item does not apply. 

27. NON-COLLUSION:  Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, certify that the accompanying bid is not the result of, or 
affected by, any unlawful act of collusion with any other person or company engaged in the same line of business 
or commerce, or any other fraudulent act punishable under Tennessee or federal law. 

28. NON-CONFLICT STATEMENT:   Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, agree that it has no public or private interest 
and shall not acquire directly or indirectly any interest that would conflict in any manner with the provision of its 
goods or performance of its services. Supplier warrants that no part of the total Contract amount provided 
herein shall be paid directly or indirectly to any officer or employee of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, 
or gifts in exchange for acting as officer, agent, employee, subcontractor or consultant to the                  
Contractor in connections with any goods provided or work contemplated or performed relative to the 
agreement. 

29. NON-DISCRIMINATION STATEMENT:   Supplier must agree that no person on the grounds of age, color, 
disability, gender, genetic information, national origin, political affiliation, race, religion, sexual orientation, or 
veteran’s status shall be excluded from participation in, or be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the performance of this agreement, or in the employment practices of Vendor. Supplier shall 
upon request show proof of such non-discrimination, and shall post in conspicuous places available to all 
employees and applicants notices of non-discrimination. Suppliers covenants that it complies with the Fair 
Wage and Hour Laws, the National Labor Relations Act, and other federal and statement employment laws as 
applicable. Supplier covenants that it does not engage in any illegal employment practices. 

mailto:DBE@HamiltonTN.gov


Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

30. PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION: All public records pertaining to purchasing shall be open for 
inspection during normal business hours. Information relating to the award of a particular contract shall be  
open to the public only after evaluation of that bid or proposal has been completed. 

31. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS:  A bidder may be required, before the award, to show to the complete 
satisfaction of Hamilton County that it has the necessary facilities, ability and financial resources to provide the 
service or goods specified. 

32. RESTRICTIVE OR AMBIGUOUS SPECIFICATIONS:   It is the responsibility of the prospective bidder to review the 
entire invitation to bid (ITB) packet and to notify the Purchasing Department if the specifications are formulated 
in a manner that would unnecessarily restrict competition. Any such protest or question regarding the 
specifications of bidding procedures must be received in the Purchasing Department not less than seventy-two 
hours prior to the time set for bid opening. These requirements also apply to specifications that are perceived 
to be ambiguous. 

33. SAMPLES: Samples of articles, when required, shall be furnished free of cost of any sort to the County and may 
be retained for future comparison. Samples which are not destroyed by testing or which are not retained for 
future comparison will be returned upon request at bidder expense. 

34. TAXES:   Hamilton County is a tax exempt organization. Sales, use or federal excise taxes should not be included 
in your bid. 

35. TN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REQUIREMENTS:  Before the Contract resulting from this solicitation is signed, 
the apparent successful Proposer must be registered with the Department of Revenue for the collection of 
Tennessee sales and use tax.  The State shall not approve a contract unless the Proposer provides proof of such 
registration. The foregoing is a mandatory requirement of an award of a contract pursuant to this solicitation. 

36. TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   In the event of a conflict between the bid specifications and these terms and 
conditions, the specifications will govern. 

37. VISA ACCEPTANCE:  Awarded contractors should have the capability of accepting the County’s authorized VISA 
Procurement Card (p-card) as a method of payment. Price changes or additional fee(s) may not be assessed 
when accepting the p-card as a form of payment. The successful bidder may receive payment from the County 
by the p-card in the same manner as other VISA purchases. VISA acceptance is preferred but is not the exclusive 
method of payment. 

38. WARRANTIES:   All warranty information must be furnished. 

39. WAIVING OF INFORMALITIES:  Hamilton County reserves the right to waive minor informalities or technicalities 
when it is in the best interest of Hamilton County. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF AGE, COLOR, DISABILITY, GENDER, GENETIC 
INFORMATION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, POLITICAL AFFILIATION, RACE, RELIGION, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, OR VETERAN’S 

STATUS IN THE EVALUATION AND AWARD OF BIDS. 







Mid-Size Fleet Staff Sedans Purchasing Department

October 10, 2016 10:30 A.M.

Mid Size Fleet Vehicle Base Price $17,831.00 $17,943.00 $18,282.00 $18,457.25 $19,625.00 $19,560.00 $20,993.00

Cost with Power Seat Option $17,831.00 $17,943.00 N/A $18,457.25 $19,975.00 $19,560.00 $20,993.00

Year/Make/Model

2017 Nissan 

Altima S

2016 Nissan 

Altima 2017 Ford Fusion

2017 Nissan 

Altima S

2017 Chevrolet 

Malibu

2017 Toyota 

Camry 2017 Dodge Charger

Specifications:

Engine 2.5 L, 4 cylinder 2.5 L, 4 cylinder 2.5 L, 4 cylinder 2.5L, 4 cylinder 

1.5L Turbo, 4 

cylinder 2.5 L, 4 cylinder 3.6L, 6 cylinder

Wheelbase 109.3 109.3 112.2 109.3 111.4 109.3 120.2

Passenger Volume 101.9 101.9 102.8 101.9 102.9 102.7 104.7

Cargo Volume 15.4 15.4 16.0 15.4 15.8 15.4 16.1

Fuel Mileage - City/Hwy 27 / 39 mpg 27 / 39 mpg 22 / 34 mpg 27 / 39 mpg 27 / 36 mpg 25 / 35 mpg 19 / 31 mpg

Fuel Mileage - Combined (60/40) 31.8 31.8 26.8 31.8 30.6 29.0 23.8

Warranty: Basic 3 yr / 36k mi 3 yr / 36k mi 3 yr / 36k mi 3 yr / 36k mi 3 yr / 36k mi 3 yr / 36k mi 3 yr / 36k mi

Warranty: Powertrain 5 yr / 60k mi 5 yr / 60k mi 5 yr / 60k mi 5 yr / 60k mi 5 yr / 100k mi 5 yr / 60k mi 5 yr / 60k mi

Delivery: 14 Days 7-14 days 60-90 days 30 days 8-10 weeks 45-60 days 10-12 weeks

Terms:

7 days from 

delivery Net 30 Net 30 Net 30 Net 30 Net 30

Bid Cost Analysis:

Fuel costs forecast for 125k miles at 

$1.3358/gal (U.S. Energy Information 

Administration - Oct 2016)

$5,250.79 $5,250.79 $6,230.41 $5,250.79 $5,456.70 $5,757.76 $7,015.76

Base Bid w/ Fuel $23,081.79 $23,193.79 $24,512.41 $23,708.04 $25,081.70 $25,317.76 $28,008.76

Power Seat Option w/ Fuel $23,081.79 $23,193.79 N/A $23,708.04 $25,431.70 $25,317.76 $28,008.76

Newspaper Ad: 9/29/2016 Meet specs - Low Bid

Vendor Notification: 204

Vendor Response: 7

Budgeted: Capital Outlay

Request For Bids:

Golden Circle 

Ford
CDJR of ColumbiaVendor/Vehicle Info: Carriage Nissan

Sutherlin Nissan 

Mall of GA
D-Patrick Inc.

Don Ledford 

Automotive Center

Capital Motor 

Sales, Inc. (HC)



















No. 1116-37 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
November 16, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF PRATER FORD, INC., FOR MID-SIZE AND 
SMALL UTILITY VEHICLES FOR HAMILTON COUNTY AND TO AUTHORIZE THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
   
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) mid-size 4x4 

utility vehicle for the Engineering Department and small AWD utility vehicles 
for Building Inspection (1), Real Property (1), and Stormwater (1); and,  

 
WHEREAS, the bid from Prater Ford, Inc. amounting to $27,775.72 for the mid-size 4x4 

utility vehicle, and $22,852.89 for the small AWD utility vehicle was 
considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 

 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Prater Ford, Inc. for mid-size and small utility vehicles for Hamilton County is 
hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County 
Mayor to sign any contacts necessary to implement this resolution.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

November 16, 2016 

  
Date 

 





Bid # 1016-043: Utility Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 

1 | P a g e  
 

BID SPECIFICATIONS 

Hamilton County, Tennessee is soliciting bids for new and unused, current (2017) model year, mid-size 

and small utility vehicles.  Vehicles shall be equipped with all standard manufacturers’ equipment for 

the model bid.  Any deviations from the specifications shall be provided in detail. Bid pricing must 

include shipping/delivery to Chattanooga, Tennessee.  The vehicles shall meet or exceed the following 

specifications.  Note that there are three configurations requested as a part of this bid.  

BID SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 

The bidder must complete and deliver an original and one (1) hard copy of its bid response document in 

a sealed envelope before 10:30 a.m. (ET) on October 18, 2016 to the Hamilton County Purchasing 

Director at the address specified below. 

The outside of the envelope/package containing the bid should be clearly marked with the following 

statement “BID # 1016-043: Utility Vehicles”.  Any sealed envelope(s) enclosed within this envelope / 

package should also be clearly marked with the same label.  

DELIVERY ADDRESS 

NOTE: Please note that receipt of the bid by the County mail system does not constitute receipt of a bid by 

the Purchasing Department.  All proposals/bids must be received in the Purchasing Department by the 

specified deadline. 

Gail B. Roppo, Director of Purchasing 
Bid # 1016-043:  Utility Vehicles {insert your company name here} 
Hamilton County Purchasing Department 
455 N. Highland Park Avenue 
Chattanooga, TN   37404 

 

COMPLETION OF THE ATTACHED BID PRICING FORMs   

Submit your bid as specified below on the attached Detailed Bid Specifications and Pricing Forms.  

Indicate the extent to which your vehicle meets each specification included.  All prices shall be displayed 

on a unit price basis. 

 

COMPLETION OF THE ATTACHED BID SUBMISSION FORMS  

The attached Authorization to Bind and Certificate of Compliance forms must be signed and submitted 

as a part of your bid submission package. 

CONTACTS 

Questions regarding bid procedures or product specifications should be directed to Janie Burley, 

Hamilton County Purchasing Department, at Janieb@hamiltontn.gov or (423) 209-6350. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Hamilton County General Bid Terms and Conditions 

mailto:Janieb@hamiltontn.gov


Bid # 1016-043: Utility Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 

2 | P a g e  
 

CONFIGURATION A 

DETAILED BID SPECIFICATIONS – 4X4 Mid-Size Utility Vehicle: 

Items found in this section set forth the County’s minimum expectations for a new and unused, current 

year (2017) model, 4X4 Utility Vehicle sought through this bid document.  Each item in each of the 

following categories must be completed.  Please respond as instructed.  Please indicate to what extent 

your proposed vehicle meets each of the specifications listed below by placing an “X” in either the 

“MEETS OR EXCEEDS” or “DOES NOT MEET” column.  If your equipment does not meet any specification, 

please explain using the comments column.  All bids are F.O.B. Chattanooga, Tennessee. 

Note:  If quoting more than one make/model of vehicle, a separate vendor/manufacturers’ specification 

sheet must be provided for each vehicle being quoted.  All quotes may be returned in one sealed bid 

envelope. 

MID-SIZE 4X4 UTILITY VEHICLE 
SPECIFICATIONS – MUST MEET OR EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

Engine Size:   V- 6 Gasoline      

Drive Train:  Four wheel drive    

Wheelbase:  112” – 116”    

Cargo Capacity:  43 cu.ft. minimum with 2nd 
seat up    

Alternator:  130 amp minimum    

Fuel Tank:  Minimum 18 gallons    

Exterior Color:  To be determined    

Interior Color:  State Colors for model bid    

Radio:  AM/FM Stereo w/CD    

Tires:  Five (5) full size 245/65Rx17 all 
terrain    

Wheels:  17” minimum, Aluminum or 
Styled Steel    

Shock Absorbers:  Heavy Duty    

Glass:  Privacy Glass     

Instrumentation: Full instrumentation to 
include climate indicator/outside 
temperature.    



Bid # 1016-043: Utility Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 

3 | P a g e  
 

MID-SIZE 4X4 UTILITY VEHICLE 
SPECIFICATIONS – MUST MEET OR EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

Payload Capacity:  1000 lbs. minimum    

Transmission: Minimum 6-speed Automatic     

Passenger Capacity:  Minimum 5 passenger 
w/o third seat    

Bumpers:  Front and rear bumpers color 
coded to vehicle color    

Mirrors:  Dual Outside Mirrors, power-
adjustable    

Power Windows & Door Locks:  Front & 
rear required    

Brakes:  4-wheel antilock heavy duty power 
brakes (ABS)    

Flooring:  Carpet w/rubber floor mats    

Seats:  Front Bucket seats w/floor console 
and additional power points    

Overhead Console:  Storage w/light    

Vehicle Cab Height:  Minimum 70 inches    

Ground Clearance:  7.8 inches minimum    

Rear Lift gate:  One piece rear lift gate/door    

Coolers:   Auxiliary transmission & engine 
oil coolers    

Parking Brake:  Foot operated/hand 
released parking brake    

Hood Release:  Remote    

Windshield Wipers:  Intermittent / variable 
front & rear     

Air Conditioning:  Front & Rear factory 
installed    

Doors: Four (4) doors    

Towing Package: Minimum 5,000 lbs. w/ 7 
point connector w/ hitch-receiver    

Fog Light Option: 
Price separately as option if not standard 
equipment, and available as option. 
    



Bid # 1016-043: Utility Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 

4 | P a g e  
 

MID-SIZE 4X4 UTILITY VEHICLE 
SPECIFICATIONS – MUST MEET OR EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

Include Manufacturer’s Vehicle Spec Sheet 
with bid    

All Standard Equipment furnished by 
Manufacturer    

Include Manufacturer’s warranty 
information with bid (Basic, Powertrain, 
etc.    

 

Vehicle Purchase Estimate: One (1) Mid-Size 4X4 Utility Vehicle 

Pricing Configuration A: 

A.   Year/Make/Model: _________________________________________________________________ 

B.   Base Price per Vehicle: ______________________________________________________________ 

C. Cost with Fog Light option (If available as separate option): _________________________________ 

D.  Delivery:  _________________________________________________________________ 

E.  Terms:  _________________________________________________________________ 

 

Bid Submitted By: 

Company Name: _________________________________________________________________ 

Contact Name:  _________________________________________________________________ 

Contact Title:  _________________________________________________________________ 

Contact Phone:  _________________________________________________________________ 

Contact Email:  _________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

  



Bid # 1016-043: Utility Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 

5 | P a g e  
 

CONFIGURATION B 

DETAILED BID SPECIFICATIONS: Three (3) Small AWD Utility Vehicles 

Items found in this section set forth the County’s minimum expectations for the new and unused current 

year (2017) Small AWD Utility Vehicles sought through this bid document.  Each item in each of the 

following categories must be completed.  Please respond as instructed.  Please indicate to what extent 

your proposed vehicle meets each of the specifications listed below by placing an “X” in either the 

“MEETS OR EXCEEDS” or “DOES NOT MEET” column.  If your equipment does not meet any specification, 

please explain using the comments column.  All bids are F.O.B. Chattanooga, Tennessee. 

Note:  If quoting more than one make/model of vehicle, a separate form must be completed for each 

vehicle being quoted.  All quotes may be returned in one sealed bid envelope.   

 

 

SMALL AWD UTILITY VEHICLES 
SPECIFICATIONS – MUST MEET OR EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

Gasoline Engine: 1.6 L EcoBoost or V-6 / 
240 Horsepower 

   

Drive Train: All-Wheel Drive (AWD) 
   

Wheel Base: minimum 105.9 inches 
   

Cargo Capacity: minimum 63.7 Cu. Ft.    

Alternator: Standard 
   

Fuel Tank: 15.5 minimum 
   

Radio: AM/FM stereo radio w/CD player 
   

Wheels / Tires: Four (4) standard size all 
season radials w/Mfg. standard  spare 

   

Windows: Power with tinted glass all sides 
and rear window 

   

Full Instrumentation: To include climate 
indicator / outside temperature 

   

Transmission: Minimum 6- speed 
automatic 

   

Bumpers: Front and rear 
   

Mirrors: Driver / passenger / Electronic 
control  

   

Door Locks: Power 
   



Bid # 1016-043: Utility Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 

6 | P a g e  
 

SMALL AWD UTILITY VEHICLES 
SPECIFICATIONS – MUST MEET OR EXCEED 

MEETS 
OR 

EXCEEDS 

DOES 
NOT 

MEET 
COMMENTS 

Driver’s Seat:  Height adjustable driver’s 
seat  – will consider manual or power 
options (please specify type in comments) 

  
 

Drivers Power Seat Option:  Price 
separately as option if not standard 
equipment and available as an option 

  
 

Bucket Seats: Front bucket seats with floor 
console and additional power points 

  
 

Ground Clearance: Minimum 6.9 inches. 
  

 

Parking Break: Foot operated or hand 
released parking brake 

  
 

Windshield wipers: Intermittent / variable 
windshield wipers front and rear 

  
 

Doors: Four (4) doors 
  

 

Air Conditioning: Factory installed 
  

 

Color: To be determined at time of order 
  

 

Remote Keyless Entry:  Remote Keyless 
Entry (2 keys with 2 each key fob 
transmitters) or digital pad power door 
locks 

  

 

All standard equipment furnished by 
manufacturer 

  
 

Include Manufacturer’s Warranty 
Information with bid (Basic, Powertrain, 
etc.) 

  
 

Include Manufacturer’s Vehicle Spec  
Sheet with bid 

  
 

 

Pricing Configuration B: 

Vehicle Purchase Estimate: Three (3) Small AWD Utility Vehicles 

A.   Make/Model: _________________________________________________________________ 

B.   Bid Price (EA): _________________________________________________________________ 

C. Cost with Driver’s Seat Power Option (If available as separate option): ________________________ 

D.  Delivery:  _________________________________________________________________ 

E.  Terms:  _________________________________________________________________ 



Bid # 1016-043: Utility Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 

7 | P a g e  
 

 

Bid Submitted By: 

Company Name: _________________________________________________________________ 

Contact Name:  _________________________________________________________________ 

Contact Title:  _________________________________________________________________ 

Contact Phone:  _________________________________________________________________ 

Contact Email:  _________________________________________________________________ 

 

  



Bid # 1016-043: Utility Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 

11 | P a g e  
 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

By indication of the authorized signature below, the Proposer/Bidder does hereby make certification 

and assurance, under penalty of perjury, of the Proposer’s/Bidder’s compliance with all provisions of 

this bid/proposal and the following items: 

1. the laws of the State of Tennessee and Hamilton County; 

2. the Help America Vote Act; 

3. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; 

4. the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued thereunder by the 
federal government; 

5. the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued thereunder by the 
federal government; 

6. that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder/proposer is not on the list 
created pursuant to T.C.A. §12-12-106 regarding the Iran Divestment Act; 

7. Hamilton County’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise guidelines; 

8. the Drug Free Workplace statement; 

9. the condition that the submitted proposal/bid was independently arrived at, without 
collusion, under penalty of perjury; and 

10. the condition that no amount shall be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of 
Hamilton County as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, 
agent, employee, subcontractor, or consultant to the Proposer/Bidder in connection with 
the procurement under this RFP/Bid. 

 

Company Name:   _________________________________________ 

 Authorized Signature:  _________________________________________    

Date:     ________________________________________  

 

 

 

 

 

  



Bid # 1016-043: Utility Vehicles 
Hamilton County, Tennessee 

 

12 | P a g e  
 

AUTHORIZATION TO BIND 
   

By signing this proposal, I certify and acknowledge that the information contained in this document is 
true and correct, containing NO misrepresentations. The information is NOT tainted by any collusion.  I 
certify and acknowledge that I have reviewed and approved the release of this proposal for Hamilton 
County’s consideration.  Further, I am authorized to bind my company to the responses and pricing in 
these proposal/bid documents, and any subsequent negotiations, as well as execute the actual Contract 
documents, if selected.   

  
___________________________________  
Authorized Signature (Officer of the Company) 
 
 

___________________________________  
Name of Authorized Signer (Printed or Typed) 

 
 
___________________________________  
Title of Authorized Signer 
 
 
  

___________________________________  
Firm Name 
 
  

___________________________________  
Taxpayer Identification Number  

 
 
___________________________________ 
Firm Address, City and Zip Code  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Telephone Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Fax Number  
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Email Address 
 
 
_______________________________________________  
Date 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

 

 
 
 

1. ACCEPTANCE:  All terms and conditions in this invitation are deemed to be accepted by the bidder and 
incorporated in the bid, except the provision(s) which are expressly excluded by the bid specifications. 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: Bidders are cautioned that any statement made by any individual or employee of 
Hamilton County that materially changes any portion of the bid document, either before or after the issuance of 
the bid documents, shall not be relied upon unless subsequently ratified by a formal written amendment to the 
bid document. 

3. ALTERATION OR AMENDMENTS:  No alterations, amendment, changes, modifications or additions to any 
contract resulting from this bid shall be binding on Hamilton County without the prior written approval of the 
County. 

4. ALTERNATE BIDS:  Alternate bids (defined as bids that do not comply with the bid terms, conditions, and 
specifications) are not acceptable and will be rejected unless authorized by the invitation to bid.  Vendors may 
submit more than one bid providing that all such bids comply with bid terms, conditions and specifications. 

5. ASSIGNMENT:  Contractors shall not assign or sub-contract this agreement, its obligations or rights hereunder 
to any party, company, partnership, incorporation or person without the prior written consent of Hamilton 
County. 

6. AUTHORIZATION TO BIND:  All bids shall be signed by an authorized officer or employee of the bidder. 

7. AWARD:  Award will be made to the most responsive, responsible bidder(s) meeting specifications, who 
presents the product of service that is in the best interest of Hamilton County. Hamilton County reserves the 
right: (1) to award bids received on the basis of individual items, or groups of items, or on the entire list of items; 
(2) to reject any or all bids, or any part thereof; (3) to waive any informality in the bids; and (4) to accept the bid 
that is considered lowest and best. 

8. BID AMENDMENT: If it becomes evident that an invitation must be amended, a formal written amendment will 
be issued to all known Bidders. If necessary, a new due date will be established. 

9. BID COPIES:  Hamilton County requires that bids be submitted in duplicate, unless otherwise stated in the bid 
package. 

10. BID DELIVERY:  Hamilton County requires that all bids be submitted and time/date-stamped by the date and 
before the time specified in the bid documents to be considered, regardless of method of delivery.  The time 
clock in the Purchasing Department shall be the official record of the time. The County is not responsible for any 
technical difficulties of any vendor in the delivery of its bid. No late bids will be accepted, opened or returned. 

11. BID FORMS:   Vendors must complete bid forms contained in the bid package. Failure to fully complete the bid 
forms may result in rejection of the bid. 

All information shall be entered in ink or typed/computer generated. Mistakes may be crossed out and 
corrections inserted before submission of your bid. Corrections shall be initialed in ink by the person signing the 
bid. Corrections and/or modifications received after the closing time specified will not be accepted. 

12. BID PREPARATION: Prospective bidders are solely responsible for their own expenses in BID preparation and 
subsequent negotiations with Hamilton County, if any. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE  
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR PURCHASES 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

13. BID PRICING:  Any bid, and its associated pricing, shall remain valid for at least three (3) months after the bid 
due date, unless otherwise indicated in the bid specifications. Unit price must be shown for all products or 
services.  In case of error in extension, unit price will govern. Prices will be considered as net, if no cash discount 
is shown. 

14. BID SUBMISSION AND TRANSMISSION:  Bid must be submitted in a sealed envelope with the Bid 
Number/Name, the closing date and time, as well as your company name provided on the envelope. If your 
response envelope is enclosed in another envelope/package for delivery, the latter should also be clearly labeled 
with the same identifying information. 

All bids are to be F.O.B. Hamilton County, TN. All responses to this invitation become the property of Hamilton 
County. 

Bids/Proposals submitted via e-mail or facsimile machine are unacceptable. 

15. BRAND NAMES:  Brand names and numbers, when used, are for reference to indicate the character or quality 
desired. Equal items will be considered, provided they are clearly identified by manufacturer, part number, 
diagrams, brochures and other related material, unless stated otherwise in the bid specifications. When brand, 
number, or level of quality is not stated by the bidder, it is understood the offer is exactly as specified. 

16. CODE OF ETHICS:  Hamilton County, through its Purchasing Rules, has adopted the National Institute of 
Government Purchasing (NIGP) as well as the Hamilton County Government Code of Ethics.   All suppliers are 
expected to adhere to business ethics and professional behaviors as outlined in these documents. 

17. COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS:   Companies submitting bids must agree to observe and comply with all federal, 
state, and local laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations, including but not limited to Title VI of the Federal 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations issued there under by the 
federal government, in any manner affecting the provision of goods and/or services, and all instructions, 
prohibitive orders issued, and shall obtain all necessary permits. 

18. DECLARATIVE STATEMENT:  Any statement or word (e.g., must, shall, will) are declarative statements and the 
vendor must comply with the conditions.  Failure to comply with any such statement may result in their bid 
being deemed non-responsive and disqualified. 

19. DEFAULT: In case of default by the bidder, the County may procure the articles or services from other sources 
and may deduct from any monies due, or that may thereafter become due to the vendor, the difference 
between the price named in the contract or purchase order and actual cost thereof to the County. Prices paid 
by the County shall be considered the prevailing market price at the time such purchase is made. Periods of 
performance may be extended if the facts as to the cause of delay justify such extension in the opinion of the 
Purchasing Director. 

20. DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS:   Time of delivery shall be stated as the number of calendar days following receipt of 
the order by the vendor to receipt of the goods or services by the County. Note:  Time of delivery may be a 
consideration in the award. 

21. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS PROGRAM:   Hamilton County has established a Disadvantaged Business Program, 
which has the responsibility of increasing opportunity for small, minority and women owned businesses.  This is 
being accomplished through community education programs, policy edification, active recruitment of interested 
businesses and process re-engineering. 

Hamilton County is committed to ensuring full and equitable participation for all disadvantaged businesses. 
Hamilton County welcomes submittals from those disadvantaged businesses that have an interest in providing 
goods and/or services to Hamilton County. In addition, Hamilton County strongly encourages the inclusion of 
disadvantaged businesses by non-disadvantaged contractors who may wish to partner or subcontract with 
disadvantaged businesses in order to accomplish the successful delivery of goods and/or services. 



Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

If you would like additional information about our Disadvantaged Business Program please contact: 

Ken Jordan, EEO Officer/DBE Liaison 
Telephone: 423.209.6146 
Fax: 423.209.6145 
Email: DBE@HamiltonTN.gov 

 

22. DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE PROGRAM FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES:  Law prohibits state or local governments 
from contracting for construction services with any private entity having five or more employees who has not 
furnished a written affidavit by its principal officer at the time of the bid or contract stating that the contractor is 
in compliance with the provisions of this act. Companies, other than construction services, are also encouraged 
to have and maintain drug-free workplace policies. 

23. EXCEPTIONS:   Bidders taking exceptions to any part or section of this invitation shall indicate such exceptions 
on the bid form.  Failure to indicate any exception will be interpreted as the bidder’s intent to comply with 
and/or supply the requirements as written in the bid document and these General Terms and Conditions. 

24. INDEMNIFICATIONS/HOLD HARMLESS:  The vendor shall hold the County, its officers, agents, servants, and 
employees, harmless from liability of any nature or kind because of use of any copyrighted, or un-copyrighted 
composition, secret process, patented or unpatented invention, articles or appliances furnished or used under 
this bid, and agrees to defend, at his own expense, any and all actions brought against the County or himself 
because of the unauthorized use of such articles. 

25. IRAN DIVESTMENT ACT.  By submission of a bid, each bidder and each person signing on behalf of any bidder 
certifies, and in the case of a joint bid each party thereto certifies as to its own organization, under penalty of 
perjury, that to the best of its knowledge and belief that each bidder is not on the list created pursuant to T.C.A. 
§12-12-106. 

26. NEW EQUIPMENT:  The bidder shall guarantee that the units submitted for this bid shall be new, and the latest 
and most improved model of current production, and shall be first quality as to workmanship and materials used 
in said units. All modifications shall be made at the factory. Demonstrators shall not be acceptable.  NOTE: 
When the bid is for services, this item does not apply. 

27. NON-COLLUSION:  Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, certify that the accompanying bid is not the result of, or 
affected by, any unlawful act of collusion with any other person or company engaged in the same line of business 
or commerce, or any other fraudulent act punishable under Tennessee or federal law. 

28. NON-CONFLICT STATEMENT:   Vendors, by submitting a signed bid, agree that it has no public or private interest 
and shall not acquire directly or indirectly any interest that would conflict in any manner with the provision of its 
goods or performance of its services. Supplier warrants that no part of the total Contract amount provided 
herein shall be paid directly or indirectly to any officer or employee of Hamilton County as wages, compensation, 
or gifts in exchange for acting as officer, agent, employee, subcontractor or consultant to the                  
Contractor in connections with any goods provided or work contemplated or performed relative to the 
agreement. 

29. NON-DISCRIMINATION STATEMENT:   Supplier must agree that no person on the grounds of age, color, 
disability, gender, genetic information, national origin, political affiliation, race, religion, sexual orientation, or 
veteran’s status shall be excluded from participation in, or be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to 
discrimination in the performance of this agreement, or in the employment practices of Vendor. Supplier shall 
upon request show proof of such non-discrimination, and shall post in conspicuous places available to all 
employees and applicants notices of non-discrimination. Suppliers covenants that it complies with the Fair 
Wage and Hour Laws, the National Labor Relations Act, and other federal and statement employment laws as 
applicable. Supplier covenants that it does not engage in any illegal employment practices. 

mailto:DBE@HamiltonTN.gov


Hamilton County, TN Bid Terms & Conditions 7/11/2016  

30. PUBLIC ACCESS TO PROCUREMENT INFORMATION: All public records pertaining to purchasing shall be open for 
inspection during normal business hours. Information relating to the award of a particular contract shall be  
open to the public only after evaluation of that bid or proposal has been completed. 

31. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS:  A bidder may be required, before the award, to show to the complete 
satisfaction of Hamilton County that it has the necessary facilities, ability and financial resources to provide the 
service or goods specified. 

32. RESTRICTIVE OR AMBIGUOUS SPECIFICATIONS:   It is the responsibility of the prospective bidder to review the 
entire invitation to bid (ITB) packet and to notify the Purchasing Department if the specifications are formulated 
in a manner that would unnecessarily restrict competition. Any such protest or question regarding the 
specifications of bidding procedures must be received in the Purchasing Department not less than seventy-two 
hours prior to the time set for bid opening. These requirements also apply to specifications that are perceived 
to be ambiguous. 

33. SAMPLES: Samples of articles, when required, shall be furnished free of cost of any sort to the County and may 
be retained for future comparison. Samples which are not destroyed by testing or which are not retained for 
future comparison will be returned upon request at bidder expense. 

34. TAXES:   Hamilton County is a tax exempt organization. Sales, use or federal excise taxes should not be included 
in your bid. 

35. TN DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REQUIREMENTS:  Before the Contract resulting from this solicitation is signed, 
the apparent successful Proposer must be registered with the Department of Revenue for the collection of 
Tennessee sales and use tax.  The State shall not approve a contract unless the Proposer provides proof of such 
registration. The foregoing is a mandatory requirement of an award of a contract pursuant to this solicitation. 

36. TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   In the event of a conflict between the bid specifications and these terms and 
conditions, the specifications will govern. 

37. VISA ACCEPTANCE:  Awarded contractors should have the capability of accepting the County’s authorized VISA 
Procurement Card (p-card) as a method of payment. Price changes or additional fee(s) may not be assessed 
when accepting the p-card as a form of payment. The successful bidder may receive payment from the County 
by the p-card in the same manner as other VISA purchases. VISA acceptance is preferred but is not the exclusive 
method of payment. 

38. WARRANTIES:   All warranty information must be furnished. 

39. WAIVING OF INFORMALITIES:  Hamilton County reserves the right to waive minor informalities or technicalities 
when it is in the best interest of Hamilton County. 

 

HAMILTON COUNTY DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF AGE, COLOR, DISABILITY, GENDER, GENETIC 
INFORMATION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, POLITICAL AFFILIATION, RACE, RELIGION, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, OR VETERAN’S 

STATUS IN THE EVALUATION AND AWARD OF BIDS. 











Mid-Size and Small Utility Vehicles Purchasing

Tuesday October 18, 2016 10:30 AM

MID-SIZE UTILITY VEHCILE: CONFIGURATION A

Vendor / Vehicle Info: CDJR of Columbia D-Patrick Inc.
Mtn. View Ford, 

(HC)
Prater Ford, Inc.

Mid-Size Base Price $27,357.00 $26,271.25 $28,260.00 $27,775.72

Cost with Fog Light Option

$27,357.00 N/A

Move to XLT 

model - cost 

$30,760.00

N/A

Year/Make/Model

2017 Jeep Grand 

Cherokee

2017 Nissan 

Pathfinder

2017 Ford 

Explorer

2017 Ford 

Explorer Base 

Model

Specifications:

Engine 3.6L, V6 3.5L V6 3.5L V6 3.5L V6

Wheelbase (112"-116") 114.8 114.2 112.8 112.8

Cargo Capacity (min 43 Cu. Ft. 

minimum with 2nd seat up)
36.3 42.4 - 47.8 43.9 43.9

Vehicle Cab Height ( Min. 70 ") 69.3 69.6 70 70

Ground Clearance (Min. 7.8") 8.6 7 7.8 7.8

Fuel mileage City/Hwy 18 / 25 mpg 19 / 26 mpg 17 / 24  mpg 17 / 24  mpg

Warranty: Basic 3 yr / 36k mi 3 yr / 36k mi 3 yr / 36k mi 3 yr / 36k mi

Warranty: Powertrain 5 yr / 60k mi 5 yr / 60k mi 5 yr / 60k mi 5 yr / 60k mi

Delivery: 10-12 weeks 90 days 12-14 weeks 12-14 weeks

Terms: Net 30 Net 30 Net on Delivery Net on Delivery

Meets Specs

Does not meet specs



SMALL AWD UTILITY VEHICLE: CONFIGURATION B

Vendor / Vehicle Info: CDJR of Columbia D-Patrick Inc.
Mtn. View Ford, 

HC)
Prater Ford, Inc.

Small Utility Base Price $23,979.00 $21,760.25 $23,200.00 $22,852.89

Cost with Power Seat Option $24,569.00 N/A $23,200.00 $22,852.89

Year/Make/Model

2017 Jeep 

Cherokee
Nissan Rogue

2017 Ford Escape 

SE

2017 Ford Escape 

SE

Specifications:

Engine 3.2L V6 2.5L, 4 cylinder 2.0L Ecoboost

1.5L Ecoboost - 

(2.0L Ecoboost 

option available 

for additional 

$1,214.00 - total 

cost $24,066.89)

Wheelbase (Minimum 105.9") 106.3 106.5 105.9 105.9

Cargo Capacity (min 63.7 Cu. Ft.) 58.9 62.1 68 68

Fuel mileage City/Hwy 20 / 27 mpg 26 / 33 mpg 20 / 27 mpg 22 / 28 mpg

Warranty: Basic 3 yr / 36k mi 3 yr / 36k mi 3 yr / 36k mi 3 yr / 36k mi

Warranty: Powertrain 5 yr / 60k mi 5 yr / 60k mi 5 yr / 60k mi 5 yr / 60k mi

Delivery: 10-12 weeks 90 days 12-14 weeks 12-14 weeks

Terms: Net 30 Net 30 Net on Delivery Net on Delivery

Request For Bids: Meets Specs

Newspaper Ad: 10/6/2016 Does not meet specs

Vendor Notification: 203

Vendor Response: 5

Budgeted: Capital Outlay


	11-16-16 Public Agenda
	1116-_S_Minutes_Recessed Meeting - October 26, 2016 _2642_10-26-16 Recessed
	1116-_S_Minutes_Agenda Session - October 26, 2016 _2643_10-26-16 Agenda
	STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session

	1116-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting - November 2, 2016 _2644_11-02-16 Regular
	1116-_S_Report_Report Report of Investment Activity_2633_2629_001
	1116-_S_Report_Report Quarterly Fee Office Reports_2634_2618_001
	1116-_S_Report_Hixson Utility District Order of Appointment_2639_Hixson Utility District Order of Appointment - Jeff Davis
	1116-_S_Report_Savannah Valley Utility District  Order of Appointment  Robertson Healy_2640_Savannah Valley Utility District  Order of Appointment - Robertson Healy
	1116-_S_Report_Order of Designation Planning Commission  Todd Leamon November 14 2016_2663_Order of Designation Planning Commission Todd Leamon 11-14-16
	1116-14_R_Bill Knowles_Notary_2645_11-16-16
	1116-14_S_Bill Knowles_Notary_2645_11-16-16 A
	1116-15_R_Appointment(s)_Appointment of Jenneth Randall as County Auditor_2657_Co Auditor
	1116-16_R_Appointment(s)_Appointment of seven members to the ChattanoogaHamilton County Regional Council_2658_Health Council
	1116-16_S_Appointment(s)_Appointment of seven members to the ChattanoogaHamilton County Regional Council_2658_Council BIOS
	1116-17_R_Appointment(s)_Sheriff Civil Service Advisory Board_2659_William Pippin- Sheriff Civil Service Advisory Board
	1116-17_S_Appointment(s)_Sheriff Civil Service Advisory Board_2659_Jody Millard Bio.
	1116-18_R_Commissioner Fields_Appropriation for Red Bank High School_2662_CommFields Red Bank HS CERP
	1116-19_R_Commissioner Mackey_Appropriation for Urban Impact Inc_2628_CommMackeyUrban ImpactCERP
	1116-19_S_Commissioner Mackey_Appropriation for Urban Impact Inc_2628_2596_001
	1116-20_R_Rheubin Taylor_A Resolution correcting the term expiration of the Chief Judicial Commissioner_2646_Correcting the Term Expiration of Randy Russell
	1116-21_R_Alecia Poe_Employee Assistance Program (EAP) Services_2624_RES EAP 2016
	1116-21_S_Alecia Poe_Employee Assistance Program (EAP) Services_2624_EAP Supp Docs
	1116-22_R_Zoning_Zoning_2647_138
	1116-22_S_Zoning_Zoning_2647_138
	1116-23_R_Zoning_Zoning_2648_139
	1116-23_S_Zoning_Zoning_2648_139
	1116-24_R_Zoning_Zoning_2649_140
	1116-24_S_Zoning_Zoning_2649_140
	1116-25_R_Zoning_Zoning_2650_142
	1116-25_S_Zoning_Zoning_2650_142
	1116-26_R_Zoning_Zoning_2651_143
	1116-26_S_Zoning_Zoning_2651_143
	1116-27A_R_Zoning_Zoning_2652_151A
	1116-27A_S_Zoning_Zoning_2652_151
	1116-27B_R_Zoning_Zoning_2653_151B
	1116-27B_S_Zoning_Zoning_2653_151
	1116-28A_R_Zoning_Zoning_2654_152A
	1116-28A_S_Zoning_Zoning_2654_152
	1116-28B_R_Zoning_Zoning_2655_152B
	1116-28B_S_Zoning_Zoning_2655_152
	1116-29_R_Zoning_Zoning_2656_ROW Doc
	1116-29_S_Zoning_Zoning_2656_ROW
	1116-30_R_Sheriff Hammond_IAPro software and services for Internal Affairs tracking_2630_RES IAPro Software
	1116-30_S_Sheriff Hammond_IAPro software and services for Internal Affairs tracking_2630_IAPro Supp Docs
	1116-31_R_Sam Mairs_Replacement locks for Juvenile Court Detention Center_2632_RES Locks
	1116-31_S_Sam Mairs_Replacement locks for Juvenile Court Detention Center_2632_Locks Supp Docs
	1116-32_R_Lee Norris_Emergency Management Performance Grant_2627_EMPG 16 Resolution
	1116-32_S_Lee Norris_Emergency Management Performance Grant_2627_2016 EMPG Contract
	1116-33_R_Lee Norris_Vehicle Donation_2636_RES DONATION TO FORGOTTEN CHILD FUND 11-16-2016
	1116-34_R_Becky Barnes_Amendment to Public Health Emergency Preparedness Grant_2635_2016-2017 PH Emergency Preparedness Amendment Resolution CERP
	1116-34_S_Becky Barnes_Amendment to Public Health Emergency Preparedness Grant_2635_2016-2017 Amendment to Public Heatlh Emergency Preparedness Grant CERP
	1116-35_R_Albert Kiser_QuatredSunGard ONESolution RFID Fixed Assets for Hamilton County_2637_Resolution Quatred LLC
	1116-35_S_Albert Kiser_QuatredSunGard ONESolution RFID Fixed Assets for Hamilton County_2637_Quatred Supp docs
	1116-36_R_Albert Kiser_MidSize Fleet Staff Sedans_2638_Resolution Sedans
	1116-36_S_Albert Kiser_MidSize Fleet Staff Sedans_2638_Supp Docs Sedans
	1116-37_R_Albert Kiser_MidSize and small Utility Vehicles_2641_Resolution Utility Vehicles
	1116-37_S_Albert Kiser_MidSize and small Utility Vehicles_2641_Supp Docs Utility Vehicles



